UC Davis UC Davis Previously Published Works

Title

Ultrasound irradiation in the production of ethanol from biomass

Permalink https://escholarship.org/uc/item/43g1g6cz

Journal Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews, 40(C)

ISSN 1364-0321

Authors

Karimi, Mahmoud Jenkins, Bryan Stroeve, Pieter

Publication Date

2014-12-01

DOI

10.1016/j.rser.2014.07.151

Peer reviewed

Contents lists available at ScienceDirect



Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews

journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/rser



Ultrasound irradiation in the production of ethanol from biomass



Mahmoud Karimi^{a,c}, Bryan Jenkins^b, Pieter Stroeve^{a,*}

^a Department of Chemical Engineering, University of California Davis, One Shields Ave, Davis, CA 95616, USA

^b Department of Biological and Agricultural Engineering, University of California Davis, Davis, CA 95616, USA

^c Department of Agricultural Machinery Engineering, Faculty of Agricultural Engineering and Technology, University of Tehran, Karaj, Iran

ARTICLE INFO

Received 3 January 2014

Received in revised form

Accepted 19 July 2014

Ultrasound radiation

Acoustic cavitation

Lignocellulosic biomass

Sonochemistry

Article history:

21 May 2014

Keywords:

Riomass

Ethanol

Starch

ABSTRACT

Ethanol produced from renewable biomass, such as lignocellulosic feedstock, is one of the alternative energy resources that can be environmentally friendly. However, physical and chemical barriers caused by the close association of the main components of lignocellulosic biomass, as well as starch, hinder the hydrolysis of cellulose and hemicellulose in lignocellulose as well as amylase and amylopectin in starch to fermentable sugars. One of the main goals of pretreatment for enzymatic hydrolysis is to increase the enzyme accessibility for improving digestibility of cellulose and starch. Ultrasound irradiation applied to cellulosic materials and starch-based feedstock was found to enhance the efficiency of hydrolysis and subsequently increase the sugar yield. Prior research conducted on applying ultrasonic technology for cellulose and starch pretreatment has considered a variety of effects on physical and chemical characteristics, hydrolysis efficiency and ethanol yield. This paper reviews the application of ultrasound irradiation to cellulose and starch prior to and during hydrolysis in terms of sugar and ethanol yields. It also addresses characteristics such as accessibility, crystallinity, degree of polymerization, morphological structure, swelling power, particle size and viscosity as influenced by ultrasonic treatment.

© 2014 Elsevier Ltd. All rights reserved.

Contents

1.	Introd	luction		401
2.	Ultras	sound		402
	2.1.	Acoustic	c cavitation	402
		2.1.1.	Chemical effects	404
		2.1.2.	Physical effects	404
	2.2.	Factors	of consideration in sonochemistry	405
3.	Ligno	cellulosic	biomass	406
	3.1.	Process	of producing ethanol from lignocellulosic biomass	406
		3.1.1.	Structure	406
		3.1.2.	Conversion to ethanol	406
		3.1.3.	Pretreatment	406
	3.2.	Effect of	f ultrasound on physical characteristic of cellulose	407
		3.2.1.	Accessibility	407
		3.2.2.	Crystallinity	408
		3.2.3.	Degree of polymerization	409
		3.2.4.	Morphology	410
	3.3.	Effect of	f ultrasound on sugar yield	411
	3.4.	Effect of	f ultrasound on ethanol yield	412
4.	Starch	1		413
	4.1.	Process	of producing ethanol from starch	413
		4.1.1.	Structure.	413

^{*} Corresponding author. Tel.: +1 530 304 9748. *E-mail address:* pstroeve@ucdavis.edu (P. Stroeve).

		4.1.2.	Conversion of starch to ethanol	. 413
	4.2.	Effect of	f ultrasound on physical characteristics of starch	413
		4.2.1.	Swelling power and disintegration	. 413
		4.2.2.	Particle size	. 414
		4.2.3.	Morphology	. 415
		4.2.4.	Depolymerization	. 416
		4.2.5.	Viscosity	. 416
	4.3.	Effect of	f ultrasound on hydrolysis	418
	4.4.	Effect of	f ultrasound on fermentation	419
	4.5.	Effect of	f ultrasound on immobilized enzymes	419
5.	Conclu	usions		. 419
Ref	erences			. 420

1. Introduction

Long-term economic and environmental concerns have resulted in a great amount of research on renewable sources of liquid fuels such as ethanol and biodiesel to replace fossil fuels. Greenhouse gases from burning fossil fuels have major consequences for climate change [1]. The United States, with only 4.5% of the world's population, is responsible for about 25% of global energy consumption and 25% of global CO₂ emissions [2]. The average price of gasoline in the U.S. in 2005 was \$2.56 per gallon, while in 2011 average price had reached \$3.52 per gallon, a 37.5% increase [2]. In the last three decades, the consumption of liquid transportation fuels such as gasoline, diesel, and jet fuels in the U.S. increased by 50% [3]. The liquid transportation fuels from petroleum account for 70% of total petroleum consumption [4]. As regarding finite reserves, non-uniform distribution, volatile prices, and contribution to greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions from petroleum, development of sustainable sources to replace conventional liquid transportation fuels appears critical [5].

Biofuels, such as ethanol and biodiesel, are considered to serve not only as agents of greenhouse gas reduction but also as a means to secure an energy supply that is local, renewable and independent of a financially volatile and potentially unreliable oil market [6]. The role of ethanol as a blended gasoline product, in ratios of 5–20% by volume (v/v) ethanol has many advantages when considering the ease of adaptation to present oil infrastructure. Alcohol blended at lower fractions with gasoline can be used without major modification to modern automobile engines and burns cleaner reducing harmful emissions [7]. Higher octane ratings also improve combustion and potentially allow for higher engine efficiencies. At higher blending ratios up to 85% by volume in gasoline making so-called E85, ethanol is already adapted in the U.S. to flexible fuel vehicles. Elsewhere around the world, neat or unblended ethanol is used. According to the Energy Information Administration (EIA), the U.S. net foreign petroleum dependence peaked in 2005 at just over 60%-the same year the federal Renewable Fuels Standard (RFS) was enacted. Since then the increased use of domestic, renewable fuels has been a major force in reducing the U.S. net foreign petroleum dependence to less than 50%. With 13.9 billion gallons of domestic ethanol production, the U.S. required 485 million fewer barrels of imported oil in 2011 [8]. Other issues associated with ethanol from corn, however, such as overall sustainability due to indirect land use changes and other effects, remain controversial.

Ethanol is produced from different constituents of the raw materials [9]. Feedstock can be conveniently classified into three categories: (i) sucrose-based (e.g. sugar cane, sugar beet, sweet sorghum and fruits), (ii) starch-based (e.g. corn (maize) grain, milo, wheat, rice, potatoes, cassava, sweet potatoes and barley), and (iii) lignocellulosic biomass (e.g. wood, straw and grasses) [10].

Currently, focus is on ethanol production from crops including corn, wheat, sorghum, sugar cane, as well as abundant agricultural wastes, which may in practice prove more sustainable compared to agricultural products. They may also be less expensive in comparison to conventional agricultural feedstock or purpose grown crops [9,10b].

Lignocellulosic and starch-based feedstocks require various forms of pretreatment to enhance biofuel and bioenergy production [11]. The goal of a pretreatment process is to break down and disrupt the crystalline and amorphous regions in the structure of cellulose and starch, so that the acids or enzymes can easily access and hydrolyze them [1a,10a]. Pretreatment is important to the effective conversion of feedstock, but is often the most expensive process. Substantial research and development has been directed at identifying lower cost alternatives to reduce cost [1a]. The use of ultrasound irradiation is considered one possibility and is reviewed in further detail here.

Sound waves can be categorized based on frequency into three groups: infrasound (f < 20 Hz), human audible sound (20 Hz $< \cap$ f < 20 kHz), and ultrasound (f > 20 kHz) [12]. Ultrasound waves are generally associated with the frequency range of 20 kHz to 500 MHz. The interest in ultrasound irradiation and cavitation, induced by applying ultrasound to a liquid, started over 100 years ago. Thomycroft and Bamaby observed the cavitation process for the first time in 1895, when they found that the propeller of their submarine was pitted and eroded over a relatively short operating period [13]. Lord Rayleigh published the first mathematical model, analyzing a cavitation in 1917 [14]. Ultrasound irradiation to enhance reaction rates was first used by Richards and Loomis in 1927 [15]. The degradation of a biological polymer by ultrasound was published by Brohult [16] in 1937 and later, Schmid and Rommel developed the field of synthetic polymer degradation using ultrasound [17].

Because of their short wavelengths, high-frequency (f > 1 MHz) ultrasound waves are useful for detection and imaging of small areas with high accuracy such as measuring velocity, in medical scanning, imaging, and treatment of dental stains, among other uses. In contrast, low-frequency waves (20 kHz < f < 1 MHz) with high intensity have the potential of producing physical and chemical changes. The utilization of low frequency, high intensity ultrasound in chemical processes is referred to as sonochemistry. A wide variety of ultrasound applications are presented in Table 1 [13,18].

Pretreatment of lignocellulosic materials and starch-based feedstock by ultrasound irradiation can enhance ethanol yield through structural deconstruction of the materials resulting from cavitation forces. The current work focuses on investigation of the effective factors of ultrasonic systems for ethanol production, the effects on physical and chemical characteristics of lignocellulosic and starch-based feedstock, and recent advances for feedstock pretreatment in biofuel applications.

2. Ultrasound

Chemical reactions require some form of energy to proceed. Chemical reactions are well known to cease as the temperature approaches absolute zero [19]. The properties of a specific energy source can determine the course of a chemical reaction [19b]. Ultrasound irradiation has its own realm of reaction conditions such as time, pressure and energy per molecule, which are determined based on inherent reaction parameters of each type of energy (Fig. 1). Ultrasonic irradiation provides rather unusual conditions in comparison with more traditional energy sources that cannot be realized by other methods [19]. Such extraordinary effects of ultrasound do not derive from a direct interaction with molecular species. Instead, sonochemistry derives from acoustic cavitation, that is the formation, growth, and implosive collapse of bubbles in a liquid [19a].

2.1. Acoustic cavitation

Acoustic cavitation is the phenomenon of the generation of micro-bubbles (cavities) in a liquid during the rarefaction, or negative pressure produced by concentrating the diffuse energy of sound [19b]. When a sufficiently large negative pressure is applied to a liquid, the increasing distance between the molecules

Table 1

Applications of ultrasound [13,18].

Ultrasound waves	Low frequency ultrasound (20 kHz–1 MHz)	High frequency ultrasound (1–10 MHz)
Low intensity	Sonophoresis	Medical diagnosis Chemical analysis Food quality assessment Nondestructive tests
High intensity	Welding Cleaning Cell disruption Lithotripsy Engineering applications Sonochemistry	Massage therapy Drug delivery

results in voids or cavities being created; cavitation bubbles will then be formed (Fig. 2). The required negative pressure to produce cavitation is proportional to the tensile strength of the liquid and thus depends on the type and purity of the liquid. For instance, more than 1000 atm of negative pressure is required to produce cavities in pure water whereas in tap water, a few atm of negative pressure is enough for cavitation [19b,20]. Highly soluble impurities like salt and zinc sulphate increase the surface tension because of sharing attractive forces of solute molecules. On the other hand, if the impurities added to water are much less soluble. the intermolecular force decreases with a concomitant decrease in the surface tension. An oscillating bubble can accumulate energy from the oscillations in the form of heat. With continuing energy input, the bubble grows until reaching a size (typically tens of μ m) at which the void structure is no longer stable. The bubble then suddenly collapses resulting in the rapid release of the stored energy with a heating rate of $> 10^{10}$ K/s. This transient







Fig. 1. Islands of chemistry as a function of time, pressure, and energy (reproduced from Ref. [19b]).

cavitational implosion is highly localized with associated temperature of roughly 5000 K and pressure of about 1000 bar [19b]. Dissolved gases in the liquid result in so-called weak spots and the number of bubbles produced during the rarefaction cycle is proportional to the density of such weak spots [21].

In the literature, it is claimed that ultrasound cannot affect chemical reactions when there are no dissolved gases in the fluid, when the sound intensity is not big enough to overcome the cavitation threshold (a minimum acoustic pressure necessary to initiate bubble growth) of the fluid [22], or when the reactants are not volatile enough to enter the cavitation bubble as vapor during its formation [13]. Indeed there are two agents for bubble formation involving pre-existing bubbles in the liquid and gas trapped in solid particles present in the liquid [21a]. A larger bubble can be created as trapped gas exiting the crevices of a particle under the influence of a motivating force (such as that developed during exposure to ultrasound) coalesces with pre-existing bubbles. The bubble formed may continue to grow until it reaches a critical size, known as its resonance size, which depends on the applied frequency of the sound field [19–21].

The cavity expansion produced by high-intensity ultrasound sometimes occurs so quickly during the negative pressure cycle that the positive pressure in the next cycle is not able to reduce the size of the cavity. However, in the case of low-intensity ultrasound, the size of the cavity oscillates in phase with the expansion and compression cycles. The surface area of this bubble will be comparatively larger during expansion cycles in comparison with compression cycles. The bubble at its critical size absorbs energy more efficiently from ultrasound and grows more rapidly. After a very rapid growth, the efficiency of energy absorption declines, the bubble pressure can no longer resist the hydrostatic pressure of the liquid, and the cavity collapses with an implosion of the bubble [19b.20]. In summary, the phenomenon of cavitation consists of three distinct steps: (1) bubble nucleation (formation), (2) rapid growth and expansion to a critical size during alternating cycles of compression-rarefaction, and (3) implosion and violent collapse of the bubble in the liquid [23].

The critical size of cavitation bubbles is inversely proportional to the frequency of sound waves. For example, the radii of bubbles produced by ultrasound at a frequency of 20 kHz were within 100–170 μ m, while at 1 MHz the radius was about 3.3 μ m [24]. A simple and approximate relationship between the resonance radius of the bubble and the frequency, which is given by [21a,25].

$$f \times R \approx 3$$
 (1)

where f is the frequency (Hz) and R is the bubble radius (m).

The bubbles generated in the fluid subjected to 20 kHz ultrasound frequency are relatively large and their collapse produces strong shockwaves, which are useful for mechanical shearing applications such as emulsification and pretreatment of starch and lignocellulosic materials [21a,26]. Sound waves of 100 to 1000 kHz generate much smaller bubbles, which induce a higher increase in temperature upon collapse useful for sonochemical purposes [26b]. Above 1 MHz frequency, cavitation effects are much weaker and do not substantially enhance chemical reactions. However, ultrasound waves have some applications in this frequency range such as the gentle cleaning of electronic parts, the nebulization of liquids to produce fine sprays and imaging for medical and industrial purposes [26a].

Gas bubbles in liquids subjected to the sound field show several behaviors, which are described in detail by Leong et al. [21a]. Apfel has produced a series of charts based on theoretical equations to predict the bubble growth thresholds [27]. An example of these charts is shown in Fig. 3. The figure illustrates the separated regions of different types of cavitation activity. The bubbles in the region A are under inertial control so that the bubble growth only

Fig. 3. Cavitation prediction chart for a 10 kHz system in a 100% gas saturated system (reproduced from Ref. [27]). Region A is related to a bubble under inertial control, B the region for growth by rectified diffusion and C the region for transient cavitation.

occurs via rectified diffusion (growing the bubbles with time over several acoustic cycles). The bubbles in this region undergo more violent behavior and collapse once their sizes reach resonance $(R/R_{res}=1)$. In region B, the bubbles grow by rectified diffusion although they are not initially transient. After fragmentation, microbubbles generated may be in region C, and, then may go transient. Region C is the transient region for cavitation and the border with region B indicates the transient threshold [26a].

So far, there are four theories proposed to explain acoustic cavitation events: hot-spot, electrical, plasma discharge and supercritical theories. The "hot-spot" theory is based on the claim that a pressure of thousands of atmospheres is generated with a temperature of up to 5000 K during the violent collapse of a bubble [28]. For perspective, the cavitation produced by using ultrasound irradiation can produce the temperature of the sun's surface, the pressure of deep oceanic trenches, and the cooling rate of molten metal splatted onto a liquid-helium-cooled surface [19b]. It is interesting to note that a light emission of more than 100 photons per flash can be achieved because of such a high temperature [19b,20]. This theory suggests that sonoluminescence basically results from blackbody radiation from the gas within the bubble during adiabatic collapse [21]. It appears that most studies in sonochemistry have adopted the hot-spot concept to explain experimental results.

Some scientists believe that the extreme conditions occurring with fragmentation of bubbles are due to the intense electrical fields [28,29]. The electrical theory suggests that during bubble formation and collapse, enormous electrical field gradients are generated which are sufficiently high to cause bond breakage and chemical activity [28]. Although the plasma theory also suggests that the collapse of bubbles is due to intense electrical fields, the process seems not to involve a true implosion. The theory attributes the origin of cavitation to corona-like discharges caused by a fragmentation process. This view is supported by drawing numerous analogies between sonochemistry and corona chemistry and indicating the formation of micro-plasmas inside the bubbles [28,29]. Finally, the supercritical theory claims that there is a layer in the bubble-solution interface, where temperature and pressure may be beyond the critical conditions of water (647 K,



22.1 MPa). The conditions may have physical properties intermediate between those of a gas and a liquid. This theory suggests that supercritical water is obtained during the collapse of cavitation bubbles generated within the water subjected to ultrasound irradiation.

2.1.1. Chemical effects

Acoustic cavitation in fluids can induce chemical and physical effects. The chemical effects of ultrasound irradiation have been explored for many years, nearly all in water [13,18,19,30]. In environmental engineering, chemical effects of ultrasound irradiation are related to degradation of organic pollutants using pyrolysis and radical reactions [18,20,23,30]. Irradiating ultrasound waves within aqueous liquids generates free radicals.

In the structural model of the hot-spot, three regions for the occurrence of chemical reactions are postulated: (i) a hot gaseous nucleus; (ii) an interfacial region with radial gradient in temperature and local radical density; and (iii) the bulk solution at ambient temperature [28]. Free radicals are produced within the collapsing bubble, at the interface of the bubble, and in the surrounding liquid. Because of the harsh conditions generated on bubble collapse, bond breakage and/or the dissociation of the water and other vapors and gases, the formation of free radicals will happen within the center of the bubble. The high temperature and pressure produced during bubble cavitation provide the activation energy required for the bond breakage [28]. The formation of free radicals in water subjected to ultrasound has been particularly well studied. Primary products in sonicated water are H[•] and OH[•] radicals [13,19a]. The radicals produced can be recombined to return to their original water form or combined to generate H₂ and H₂O₂. Meanwhile, it is also possible to produce HO⁹ radicals by combination with O₂. These strong oxidants and reducers can be utilized for various sonochemical reactions in aqueous solutions [19a]. However, the radicals created either react with each other to form new molecules and radicals or diffuse into the bulk liquid to serve as oxidants [13,28]. The second reaction site is the liquid shell immediately surrounding the imploding cavity, which has been estimated to heat up to approximately 2000 K during cavitation. It seems that both combustion and free radical reactions occur within the layer surrounding the hot bubble [20,28]. Although some subsequent reactions generating intermediates may occur in the bulk liquid, no primary sonochemical activity takes place there. A small number of free radicals produced within bubbles or at the interface may move into the bulk liquid phase and react with the substrate through secondary reactions to form new products [28].

2.1.2. Physical effects

Physical effects are involved in pretreatment of starch and lignocellulosic materials using micro-jet and shock waves. Generally, chemical and physical effects occur simultaneously. However, physical effects can be much more violent in heterogeneous systems involving liquid-solid systems, like enzymatic hydrolysis of lignocellulosic materials [18,26,30].

A deformation of the bubble during its collapse occurs because of the asymmetry of the environment near the interface. This deformation, which is self-reinforcing, sends a fast moving stream of liquid through the bubble at the surface with velocities at least 100 m/s. This micro-jet impact leaves behind characteristic microscopic pitting in the surface of solids [19b]. In addition, shock waves are also created which are able to produce microscopic turbulence within interfacial films surrounding nearby solid particles, also termed micro-streaming [13,26a]. This phenomenon increases the transfer of mass across the solid particles, leading to an increase to the intrinsic mass transfer coefficient [13,26b]. Although the existence of both mechanisms, micro-jet and shock waves, has been established, their relative importance is a matter of debate and probably depends on the method by which cavitation is produced [19b]. For instance, effects of micro-jets produced by the bubble collapse depend on a surface several times larger than resonant bubble size. So, it is expected that for solid particles smaller than 200 μ m, micro-jets can be created with ultrasonic frequencies of 20 kHz. In these conditions, the shock waves produced by homogeneous cavitation can be caused by creation of high velocity inter-particle collisions [19a].

The diffusion transport of enzyme macromolecules toward the surface of a solid substrate like lignocellulose and starch could be certainly enhanced by agitation of the processing solution [26a]. However, it is also found that mechanical agitation is not a highly effective mixing method for the immediate border layer of liquid at a solid-liquid interface where the enzyme reactions actually takes place [18]. A schematic of varied velocities in accordance to the layers of liquid concentrically surrounding the solid particle is shown in Fig. 4 [26a]. The first layer next to the particle is immobile and the velocity quickly increases in the next layers to the maximum constant velocity as achieved by the power of agitation of the bulk solution. Because the first layer (immediate adjusted layer) is basically motionless, it seems that the only available mass transport mechanism to reach the substrate surface is diffusion. It is notable that the diffusion in the case of large macromolecules like lignocellulose and starch by using the simple mechanical agitation is quite inefficient [26]. The shock-waves produced by collapse of bubbles on and near the surface of this substrate (e.g. corn stover particles) are more effective within this first layer of liquid where the enzymatic reaction occurs. This forceful stirring/mixing leads to a high improvement in the supply of enzyme macromolecules to the surface of a substrate.

Shear forces of shock-waves are approximately calculable. As mentioned above, the velocity of the fluid (with viscosity η) at the surface of solid particle is negligible and the velocity *V* of the fluid at the location (x_0) produces the stress σ . Assuming that the collapse of the bubble is very near to the particle surface, this stress created by shear forces of shock-waves is estimated by the following equation [26b]:

$$\sigma \approx \frac{\eta V}{x_0} \tag{2}$$

According to Eq. (2), a bubble collapse with velocity of 200 m/s at $x_0=1 \ \mu m$ from the particle surface generates a shear stress equal to 2×10^5 Pa in water [26b].



Surface layer

Fig. 4. Schematic distribution of the velocities of the layers of liquid concentrically surrounding the solid particle (adapted from Ref. [26a]).

Most cavitation bubbles generated close to the particle surface provide an important additional benefit termed "opening up" or pore creation resulting from mechanical impacts generated by micro-jets [13,26a,30].

The effective range of micro-jets in "opening up" the surface is proportional to the bubble diameter. The stress generated by a micro-jet can be calculated by the following equation [26a]:

$$\sigma \sim \frac{2\gamma}{R} 0.157 \left(\frac{R}{x_0}\right)^3 \tag{3}$$

where γ is the surface tension of the cavitation bubble and *R* is the bubble radius. According to Eqs. (2) and (3), at low x_0 the stress



Fig. 5. Shear stress (solid line) and micro-jet stress (dashed line) as a function of the cavitation bubble to starch granule or lignocellulosic particle distance x_0 (reproduced from Ref. [26b]). Shear stresses are calculated based on $\mu = 1 \times 10^{-3}$ Pa s and $\nu = 200$ m/s; and micro-jet stresses are calculated using $R = 1 \times 10^{-6}$ m, $\gamma = 70 \times 10^{-3}$ N/m. x_0^* is the critical cavitation bubble to starch granule or lignocellulosic particle distance at which the shear and micro-jet stresses are equal. Schematic represents stress as a function of the cavitation bubble to solid particle distance x_0 .

Tal	ole	2
-----	-----	---

Factors influencing ultrasonic cavitation.

caused by a micro-jet is higher than that generated by the shear forces, which is shown in Fig. 5. However, at distances more than x_0^* , as the transition point, the shear stress plays a dominant role in physical effects of cavitation [26]. These stresses induced by micro-jets and shock-waves in heterogeneous systems make the effects of cavitation several hundred times greater than that in homogenous systems [26b].

2.2. Factors of consideration in sonochemistry

Many studies have been carried out to find and investigate the effective factors on the outcome of a sonochemical reaction, which can be categorized as physical, chemical and macroscopic effects [12,18,28]. A summarized collection of the effects is presented in Table 2. The cavitation dynamics are strongly affected by the physical properties of the liquid and gases dissolved including bulk temperature, viscosity and surface tension [18]. In addition, the characteristics of the ultrasound waves applied, like intensity and frequency, are also effective. Many of these physical effects can be predicted using a single cavity dynamics model [12,13].

As mentioned above, upon bubble collapse, the molecules present within or around the bubble can decompose and form radicals. Since, increasing temperature varies in accordance to the different reaction zones, the position of a reactant plays an important role in cavitation [18,20]. Thus, a volatile reactant is susceptible to thermal decomposition inside the bubble, whereas a non-volatile reactant can decompose just in the relatively cold liquid shell surrounding the bubble or by attack from primary radicals. Thus, the number and type of radicals generated are strongly dependent on the chemical characteristics of the reactants [18,28].

The previously discussed physical and chemical effects are associated with processes occurring on just a single bubble, whereas ultrasound equipment generates a large cloud of bubbles simultaneously [18]. The interaction among the neighboring bubbles induces shape distortions, reducing the efficiency of the cavitation collapse [31]. This negative effect is reinforced by the

Factors	Influence on cavitation phenomena
Presence and nature of dissolved gases	Presence of gas in the fluid can lower the cavitational threshold and subsequently reduces the intensity of the shock wave generated [12]. Particle matter such as cellulose and starch can bring some trapped vapor nuclei in their crevices and recesses, which causes to increase the number of cavitation but reduce the cavitation effects [12,28,63]. Cavitation is also influenced by several properties gas including heat capacity ratio, thermal conductivity and solubility. In general it is known that the bubble collapse is an adiabatic process [13,20]. Thus a higher temperature and pressure are expected with gases of high heat capacity ratio. Lower thermal conductivity and higher solubility also should provide better cavitation [20]
Ambient temperature	The cavitation threshold should increase as temperature of bulk solution decrease, because it is directly in proportional to solvent vapor pressure [12,20]. In boiling point of solvent also a large number of cavitation bubbles is concurrently produced which act as a barrier to sound transmission and nullify the effect of ultrasound energy [12,20]
Ambient pressure	With increase in the ambient reaction pressure, the sonochemical effects will increase because of the decrease in the vapor pressure of the mixture. Decreasing the vapor pressure results in enhancing the intensity of the implosion with a subsequent increase in the ultrasound energy generated upon cavitation [12,20]
Choice of solvent	The sonochemical process like ultrasonic treatment is also influenced by solvent properties such as vapor pressure, viscosity, surface tension and density. Liquids with high vapor pressure and low density can produce favorable conditions for cavitation. In contrast, solvents with higher viscosity, surface tension and density showed poor cavitation efficiency [13,20]
Ultrasonic frequency	The ultrasound frequency has a significant effect on the cavitation process because of its influence on the critical size of the cavitation bubble. Lower frequency ultrasound can produce more violent cavitation, resulting in higher localized temperatures and pressures at the cavitation site as well as more effective shock waves. Higher frequencies may generally increase the number of free radicals in the fluid because, although cavitation is less violent, there are more cavitational events and thus more opportunities for free radicals to be produced [13]. Aside from that the shortened bubble lifetime can increase the amount of free radicals which are able to escape from inside the cavitation region to the bulk mixture, where they facilitate the bulk reaction. It is contended that the optimum frequency is dependent on whether intense temperatures and pressures as well as violent shock waves are required (thus enhanced by lower frequencies) or if the rate of single pleaterse transfer is more timestant (cab hared by hicker frequencies) [12]
Acoustic power	According to many authors, as the power applied to the reaction mixture increases, the rate of the reaction increases to a maximum and then decreases with a continued increase in power [13]. A possible reason for the observed decrease at ultrasound powers more than the optimum value is the formation of a dense cloud of cavitation bubbles near the probe tip which acts to block the energy transmitted from the probe to the fluid [12,13]. The optimum power level should also depend on the operating frequency [13]

self-organization and clustering of bubbles under the influence of acoustic forcing on and between the bubbles [18,31].

3. Lignocellulosic biomass

3.1. Process of producing ethanol from lignocellulosic biomass

3.1.1. Structure

Lignocellulose is the primary building block of plant cell walls, which is basically composed of cellulose, hemicellulose, and lignin along with lower amounts of pectin, protein, ash, and extractives as soluble non-structural materials such as nitrogen materials, non-structural sugars, chlorophyll, and waxes [1a,10b]. The amount of each one of these constituents varies in various plant species. For instance, hardwood and softwood have greater amounts of cellulose, whereas in leaves there is more than 80% hemicellulose (Table 3).

Cellulose, as the principal carbohydrate component in plant cell walls, is found in an organized fibrous structure [1a,5]. This macromolecule consists of p-glucose subunits linked to each other by β -(1,4)-glycosidic bonds [5,10b]. The branches of fermentable D-glucose can be separated from cellulose through the action of either acid or enzymes breaking the β -(1,4)-glycosidic linkages. The cellulose polymers are basically linked together by hydrogen and van der Waals bonds, which cause the cellulose to be packed into micro-fibrils [1a]. These micro-fibrils can be further aggregated in forming fibrils and then fibers [5]. Cellulose fibers are imbedded in a matrix of hemicellulose and lignin polysaccharides [5]. Although, cellulose is found to have a highly crystallized structure as the major proportion of cellulose, a smaller percentage of unorganized cellulose chains also form amorphous regions [1a,10b]. Crystalline regions are much more difficult to hydrolyze to glucose in comparison to that of the amorphous regions [5,11].

The main difference between hemicellulose and cellulose is the fact that hemicellulose has branches with short lateral chains consisting of different sugars. These mono-saccharides connected to hemicellulose consist of both six-carbon and five-carbon sugars including arabinose, galactose, glucose, mannose, xylose, and other species [5]. It is believed that xylose has the largest proportion in hemicellulose [5,11]. Either a homo-polymer or a hetero-polymer with short branches connected by β -(1,4)-glyco-sidic and occasionally β -(1,3)-glycosidic bonds basically form the backbone of hemicellulose [1a]. In addition, there is some degree

Table 3

Cellulose, hemicellulose, and lignin contents in common agricultural residues and wastes [1a].

Lignocellulosic material	Cellulose (%)	Hemicellulose (%)	Lignin (%)
Hardwood stems Softwood stems Nut shells Corn cobs Grasses Paper Wheat straw Sorted refuse Leaves	40-55 45-50 25-30 45 25-40 85-99 30 60 15-20	24-40 25-35 25-30 35 35-50 0 50 20 80-85 5 20	18-25 25-35 30-40 15 10-30 0-15 15 20 0
Cotton seed nairs Newspaper Waste papers from chemical pulps Primary wastewater solids Solid cattle manure Coastal bermudagrass Switchgrass Swine waste	80–95 40–55 60–70 8–15 1.6–4.7 25 45 6	5-20 25-40 10-20 1.4-3.3 35.7 31.4 28	0 18–30 5–10 2.7–5.7 6.4 12 na

of acetylation in the structure of hemicellulose, for instance, in heteroxylan. The polymers existing in hemicellulose can be more easily hydrolyzed compared to cellulose because polymers of hemicellulose cannot be compacted even when they cooperate with cellulose chains to form crystals.

Lignin is also another macromolecule present in the primary cell wall and contains cross-linked polymers of phenolic monomers. Lignin imparts structural support, impermeability, and resistance against microbial attack [1a,10b]. There are three phenyl propionic alcohols as monomers of lignin including coniferyl alcohol (guaiacyl propanol), coumaryl alcohol (*p*-hydroxyphenyl propanol), and sinapyl alcohol (syringyl alcohol) [1a,5]. However, lignin contains no sugars, and is not convertible to ethanol using the current yeast fermentation technologies [5]. Herbaceous plants such as grasses generally have the lowest contents of lignin, whereas the highest lignin contents belong to softwoods among lignocellulosic materials (Table 3).

3.1.2. Conversion to ethanol

Hydrolysis is used to break down cellulose into its components, which are fermentable sugars [32]. Two major types of hydrolysis processes are widely introduced: acid hydrolysis and enzymatic hydrolysis [5]. Concentrated or diluted acids are generally used in acid hydrolysis of cellulosic biomass resulting in problems with acid recovery, equipment corrosion, and decomposition of product sugars. Enzymatic hydrolysis does not have these problems, but the efficiency of this method is very low compared to that of acid hydrolysis, leading to increasing the production cost [11]. It is concluded that cellulosic biomass needs extensive pretreatment to increase the efficiency of enzymatic hydrolysis [5,32]. The produced sugars in the hydrolysis step can be fermented by bacteria, yeast or filamentous fungi to produce ethanol. The enzymatic hydrolysis and fermentation steps can also be combined in a step called simultaneous saccharification and fermentation (SSF) [33]. The ethanol purified by distillation and molecular sieves or other separation techniques as the last step will be ready to be used as a fuel, either neat or blended with petrol [33].

3.1.3. Pretreatment

As mentioned above, the pretreatment of lignocellulosic materials is required to improve the efficiency of cellulose hydrolysis to its constituent sugars. Some of important factors relative to hydrolysis of cellulose include porosity (accessible surface area) of the biomass materials, crystallinity of cellulose fibers, and content of both lignin and hemicellulose [1a,10b]. The accessibility of cellulase enzymes and acids to cellulose is inversely proportioned to amount of lignin and hemicellulose in these materials. Thus, lignocellulose with high lignin and hemicellulose has low efficiency of hydrolysis [11]. The lignin and hemicellulose must be disrupted as must the crystalline structure of cellulose, which are the primary purposes of pretreatment. An ideal pretreatment can also increase the surface area of cellulose and make it more accessible to enzymatic hydrolysis, so that the hydrolysis of the carbohydrate fraction to monomeric sugars can be achieved rapidly and with greater yields [5]. In summary, pretreatment can significantly improve the hydrolysis process by disruption of lignin and hemicellulose, reduction of cellulose crystallinity, and enhancement of porosity (Fig. 6) [1a,5].

Pretreatment methods of lignocellulosic materials can be roughly classified as physical, physicochemical, chemical, biological, electrical, or a combination of these[1a,5,10b]. Several key properties to take into consideration for low-cost and advanced pretreatment processes are summarized in Table 4 [10b].

3.2. Effect of ultrasound on physical characteristic of cellulose

3.2.1. Accessibility

The schematic substrate shown in Fig. 7(a) assists in better understanding the accessibility concepts and their roles in hydrolysis [34]. It should be noted that the schematic has not been drawn to scale and in reality, the accessible and non-accessible portions can be mixed with each other.

During hydrolysis, the enzymes are adsorbed onto either the hydrolysable or non-hydrolysable (but accessible) parts of the substrate. They can transfer between the two parts via diffusion on the substrate (with no hydrolysis) [10b]. The ratios of accessible to total and hydrolysable to accessible will decrease as cellulose is hydrolyzed. The accessible fraction of cellulose can be experimentally specified by measuring its maximum



Fig. 6. Schematic of the role of pretreatment in the conversion of biomass to fuel (adapted from Ref. [1a]). (a) Before pretreatment and (b) after pretreatment.

adsorption capacity [34]. Kinetic studies have been conducted following the design shown in Fig. 7(b), where enzymes are washed off at a particular conversion level. Based on these kinetics, the changes in accessibility ($[E]_{ads,max}$), reactivity (k), and hydrolysability (a) can be determined (Fig. 7(b)) [34]. The linear trend in the plot of $V_0 - [E]_{ads}$ is also in accordance with Eq. (4).

$$Rate = k \times S \times [E]_{ads} \times f \tag{4}$$

At low enzyme concentrations and short reaction times, the hydrolysis rate is proportional to the adsorbed enzyme fraction [34]. As a result, increasing accessible fraction of cellulose will enhance the hydrolysis rate for a constant enzyme concentration [5].

Ultrasound irradiation is able to crack the cell wall and dislocate the secondary wall of the middle layer, leading to an increase in accessibility of cellulase to cellulose fibers [35]. The ultrasound waves can cause the surface erosion of cellulosic materials, which is due to cavitation collapse in the surrounding liquid. Low frequency of ultrasound around 20 kHz can affect even more surface disruption because low frequency ultrasound waves can produce more violent cavitation [35,36].

Aimin et al. [37] found no significant change in crystallinity of cellulose in their study and concluded that the significant increase in accessibility could mainly be due to the morphological structure changes brought on ultrasound irradiation. Thus, it is accepted that the higher efficiency of the ultrasound-assisted extraction can be explained by mechanical action of the ultrasound waves on the cell walls leading to an increased accessibility [38]. It was also concluded that ultrasound can enhance not only the accessibility of the substrate for enzyme adsorption but also desorption of the inactively adsorbed enzyme which will cause reactivation of enzyme leading in enhanced hydrolysis efficiency [39].

Although most studies have concluded that the ultrasound irradiation could enhance accessibility of cellulose, in experiments of Yu et al. there was no obvious size reduction in rice hull subjected to ultrasonic irradiation (250 W, 40 kHz) even after 60 min [35]. They also reported that there were no significant changes in the main compositions (cellulose, hemicellulose, and lignin) under ultrasound irradiation. However, it is found that ultrasound waves can strongly affect degradation and removal of hemicellulose and lignin if used along with the alkali pretreatment

Table 4

Key factors for effective pretreatment of lignocellulosic biomass [10b,47,117b,c].

Factors	Effects of the factors on lignocellulosic pretreatment
High efficiency for multiple crops, sites ages, harvesting times	Some pretreatments have been considered to be better suited for specific feedstock. For instance, ammonia recycling percolation (ARP) can significantly reduce the lignin content of agricultural residues but cannot be a suitable alternative for processing recalcitrant substrate such as softwoods
Highly digestible pretreated solid	A suitable pretreatment should be able to provide highly digestible cellulose; for example with yields higher than 90% in less than five days and enzyme loading lower than 10 FPU/g cellulose
No significant sugar degradation	Pretreatment should not significantly result in sugar degradation, so that a yield close to 100% of fermentable cellulosic and hemicellulosic sugars should be achieved through the pretreatment step
Minimum amount of toxic compounds	A very harsh pretreatment can generate toxic components resulting from partial hemicellulose degradation, which could affect the proceeding hydrolysis and fermentation steps. The toxic components are dependent on raw material and severity of pretreatment
Biomass size reduction not required	Size reduction by milling or grinding the raw material before pretreatment requires much energy, resulting in increase of production cost
Operation in reasonable size and moderate cost reactors	Pretreatment reactors should be low in cost and high in efficiency
Non-production of solid-waste residues	The chemicals generated during cellulose hydrolysis in preparation for subsequent steps should not present processing or disposal challenges
Effectiveness at low moisture content	Materials at high dry matter content require lower energy during pretreatment
Obtaining high sugar concentration	An adequate ethanol concentration can be achieved, provided that the concentration of sugars from the coupled operation of pretreatment and enzymatic hydrolysis is above 10%
Fermentation compatibility	The pretreatment should be compatible with the type of organism able to ferment
Lignin recovery	Lignin and other constituents should be recovered to be converted into valuable coproducts
Minimum heat and power requirements	Requirement of heat and power for pretreatment should be low to reduce the production cost



Fig. 7. (a) Schematic representation of cellulose substrate with total, accessible, and hydrolysable cellulose. Arrows indicate parts of the substrate onto which celluloses can adsorb, and between which they can change states. (b) Experimental design (*V*_o is the initial rate measured in terms of glucose produced in 10 min) (adapted from Ref. [34]).

[38,40]. It is reported that the removal rate of the lignin can be enhanced by 23% and the degradation rate of the hemicellulose can be increased by 12% in samples of alkali pretreated feedstock subjected to ultrasound waves with a power of 80 W and frequency of 4 kHz for 1 h. It is an interesting advantage that the slight shock and the cavitation collapse in alkaline solutions not only enhance the lignin removal rate, but also greatly increase the hemicellulose degradation rate. The dissolution of hemicellulose improves the accessibility of cellulosic materials in pretreatment, resulting in enhancement of saccharification rate of enzymatic hydrolysis [40].

Accessibility of cellulose can be quantitatively measured by determination of the size of pores distributed on the cellulose surface via the water retention value (WRV) [5]. Wojciak and Pekarovicova [41] also reported an increase in specific surface area of cellulosic fibers after ultrasonic pretreatment. Similar results were found by Wang et al. [42]. They reported that after treatment with the ultrasound waves, specific surface area and WRV increase which implied the increase of accessibility. Wang et al. [43] also found that the specific surface areas of microcrystalline cellulose (MCC) increased dramatically after 5–20 min ultrasonic treatment with a power of 500 W and a frequency of 20 kHz.

Increasing the ultrasound intensity can cause a larger accessible surface area. It seems that the positive effect of ultrasound intensity on accessibility is due to the increase of smaller particles and deeper damage of surface structure [43]. It was reported that the accessibility of cellulose increases from 73% to 119% of WRV. with increasing ultrasound (400 W, 23-25 kHz) treatment time in levels of 0 s, 90 s, 180 s, 360 s and 720 s [37]. Zeng et al. [44] found that increasing accessibility of cellulose is directly proportional to the time of ultrasound pretreatment between 0 s and 150 s. The absorbency of cellulose fiber of ultrasound pretreated samples (150 s with power of 500 W) increased from 1.4 g/g to 2.1 g/g, which shows a significant increase in accessibility. As the time of ultrasound treatment progresses beyond some optimum, the trend in accessibility will begin to decline. According to a study conducted on microcrystalline cellulose (MCC), at a constant ultrasonic power, the specific surface area reached its peak value when the treating time was 15 min. MCC pretreated by ultrasound irradiation of 500 W and 20 kHz for 15 min achieved a maximum increase in specific surficial area from 0.3 m^2/g to 1.3 m^2/g (Fig. 8) [42]. Wang et al. [43] believe that when the treating time continually increases, the "hot-spot" effects generated from the collapse of ultrasonic cavitation bubbles can cause the collision and aggregation between particles, resulting in a steady decline of specific surface area.

3.2.2. Crystallinity

Cellulose in biomass is found in both crystalline and amorphous forms. The major proportion of cellulose is related to crystalline form, whereas unorganized cellulose chains, which form amorphous cellulose, comprise just a small percentage of cellulose [1a]. The crystalline fraction of cellulose has been considered as an important factor in the hydrolysis rates of relatively refined cellulose substrates [10b,11]. Crystallinity is measureable based on the percentage of crystalline region within the total structure, referred to as the crystallinity index (CrI) [5].

High-power ultrasound has the potential to increase the pore volume and to reduce the crystallinity of cellulosic biomass [11]. In a study conducted by Wang et al. [43], the degree of crystallinity of MCC after ultrasonic treatment negligibly decreased from 62% to 61%, when the ultrasonic power increased from 0 W to 200 W. However, with increasing ultrasonic power from 200 W to 700 W, a significant decrease in the degree of crystallinity of MCC was observed. It should be noted that although the degree of crystallinity decreased to 54.6% at 700 W for 15 min, the crystal size showed little change under this condition [43]. In another study it was found that both the degree and size of crystalline cellulose did not change so much after ultrasound treatment under 400 W for 12 min [37]. Other researchers also have verified that basically, the crystallinity degree and crystalline size of the treated celluloses will not change under ultrasound power below 200 W [38,45].

It seems that the treatment time of cellulosic materials using low-power ultrasound irradiation does not significantly affect the crystallinity of cellulose [43]. Generally, there is no linear relation between crystallinity and treatment time in the different powers of ultrasound waves [37,43,44]. Although the ultrasound power is a more effective factor than time in the ultrasonic treatment of cellulose, crystallinity of cellulose does not linearly decrease in accordance with increasing power of ultrasonic. This claim is supported by the relevant theory of sonochemistry that cavitation



Fig. 8. The influence of ultrasound irradiation of 20 kHz for 15 min on specific surface area of MCC (reproduced from Ref. [42]).

intensity has a maximum value at the proper power of ultrasound waves [44].

Although reducing the crystallinity of cellulose only occurs with high-power ultrasound, it is found that ultrasonic-assisted alkali pretreatment effectively destroys the intermolecular hydrogen bonding of lignocellulose and as a result, decreases crystallinity of cellulose [40,46]. Reducing crystallinity under this condition can occur even with a power of 80 W. The results of the study conducted by Sun et al. [38], also revealed that the total crystallinity index of celluloses of sweet sorgum bagasse, which was defined based on the absorbance ratio, were 0.83 and 0.70 for untreated and ultrasonic-assisted-NaOH treated, respectively. The lower crystallinity and higher amorphous fraction of cellulose are due to alkali with ultrasound pretreatment [46]. Ultrasound irradiation can more effectively decompose lignocellulose with the weaker intra- and intermolecular hydrogen bonding caused by alkali pretreatment.

Using ultrasound irradiation in ionic liquids (IL) pretreatment can also significantly reduce crystallinity, which in turn contributes to an increased rate of enzymatic hydrolysis of cellulose [32,47]. IL pretreatment combined with ultrasound irradiation at a power of 35 W reduced cellulose crystallinity of kenaf more effectively than IL pretreatment with heating. The CrI values were 49.4%, 38.8% and 31.5% for the untreated sample, sample pretreated in EmimOAc for 15 min with heating and kenaf powder pretreated in EmimOAc for 15 min with ultrasound irradiation at a frequency of 24 kHz and emission power of 35 W, respectively [32]. Zeng et al. [44] also assayed the novel ultrasonic-assisted with polyethylene glycol (PEG) pretreatment method to decrease the crystallinity of cellulose fiber. PEG was used as a swelling reagent in their experiments, which could act as the pore-forming agent. Thus, a very small quantity of PEG can be useful in improving water absorbency for grafting cellulosic water absorbents and resulting in enhanced ultrasonic effects on crystallinity of cellulose.

The degree of cellulose crystallinity depends on the extent of hydrogen bonds [40,43]. Thus, the lower degree in crystallinity of sonicated cellulose compared to that of untreated cellulose means that hydrogen bonds in the cellulose molecules are destroyed by ultrasound waves [5,43]. This claim is based on the fact that ultrasound induced cavitation is able to disjoin the molecules in amorphous and crystalline regions, resulting in destruction of ordered packing of cellulose molecules and the decrease of crystallinity [40,48]. According to the study of Wang et al. [43], when the ultrasonic power increased from 200 W to 700 W, the hydrogen bonds were more thoroughly destroyed effecting a

greater decrease in the degree of crystallinity. Montalbo-Lomboy et al. [49] also reported that switchgrass samples sonicated at 5000 J broke down the chunks of material initially observed into long and small strips of cellulosic material. They concluded that the transition of the material from a very crystalline form of switchgrass into a long strip material is significant and deduced that ultrasonics are able to change the structure of the switchgrass.

3.2.3. Degree of polymerization

Cellulose molecules, as a polymer, have different sizes and weights in proportion with their degree of polymerization (DP), so that larger sizes and weights of cellulose molecules are associated with a higher degree of polymerization [5]. DP is basically related to other cellulose characteristics like crystallinity [10b]. It is believed that glucan chain length plays an effective role in cellulose hydrolysis. Depolymerization of cellulose depends on the nature of the cellulosic substrate. However, regardless of the substrate, it seems that there is a "leveling off" in the cellulose DP, correlated with the increased recalcitrance of the residual crystal-line cellulose [1a]. DP is generally determined via viscosity as well as by size exclusion chromatography (SEC) [5,45].

Some researchers concluded that ultrasound irradiation is able to decrease the DP of cellulose [5,45,50]. The cavitation collapse can disrupt the polymeric structure of cellulose to produce lower DP [50b]. The reduction in the degree of polymerization is typical for heterogeneous reactions of cellulose hydrolysis [51]. A higher intensity of ultrasonic treatment can significantly increase degradation of cellulose compared to that of low intensity ultrasonic treatment. Within the same period of time, DP of treated cellulose tends to be smaller as well as its distribution narrower as the intensity of ultrasound waves increases [45,50].

However, Wang et al. [43] reported that ultrasound irradiation alone could change the DP of cellulose very little. Although a highpower ultrasonic treatment (200-500 W for 5-20 min) was used in the study, they believed that the energy of ultrasonic treatments was still low and not large enough to break the chemical bonds of cellulose molecules. The required energy for cleavage of the chemical bonds and hydrogen bonds in cellulose molecules is estimated at about 400-1000 kJ/mol and 5-30 kJ/mol, respectively [5]. The maximal output energy of ultrasonic apparatus adjusted in the study conducted by Wang et al. was 600 kJ, which could only destroy the hydrogen bonds in the cellulose molecules [43]. While the maximal output energy of ultrasonic (600 kJ) was higher than the required energy for cleavage of some chemical bonds, it seems that apart from wasted energy, useful energy through the fluid was less than 400 kJ. However, it is suggested that disruption of the chemical bonds can be enhanced with cooperation of alkali solutions [40,43].

The decomposition of cellulose in nitric acid solutions has also been studied by Gert et al. [52]. Nitric acid is a multifunctional reagent with respect to cellulose. It is illustrated in another study that ultrasonic treatment of cellulose soaked in nitric acid caused a significant decrease in DP of cellulose [51]. A rapid decrease occurred in DP of the initial cellulose at the beginning of interaction of sonicated cellulose with nitric acid, with depolymerization slowing over time. IL-treated cellulose under ultrasonic conditions also displayed a lower molecular weight than by conventional heating. Thus, more disruption can occur in cellulose molecules soaked in ionic liquid media (ILs) by ultrasound irradiation, resulting in lower degree of polymerization [47].

Sun and Tomkinson [53] also reported that as a result of ultrasonic irradiation with a sonicator of 100 W and 20 kHz, degree of polymerization and molecular weight of crude cellulose in wheat straw decreased from 1666 and 269,960 to 1594 mL/g and 258,280 g/mol, respectively, with an increase in ultrasonic

treatment time from 0 to 35 min. However, treatment of 150 mg wheat straw cellulose with 5.0 ml 80% acetic acid (v/v) and 0.5 ml of concentrated nitric acid (70%, v/v) at 120 °C for 15 min, resulted in a sharp decline in the molecular weight (44.65 g/mol). It seems that ultrasound effects on decreasing DP is much lower than acid or alkali treatment, because after acid or alkali treatment, cellulose subjected to ultrasound irradiation showed no significant decrease in its degree of polymerization [43,51,53].

Mason and Lorimer [54] conducted a study on investigation of the hydrodynamic force and shear stress generated from collapse of bubbles, which are the outcome of the ultrasound treatment of polymeric solutions [45]. Tested samples were subjected to ultrasound irradiation for a maximum of 0.5 h. Further reduction in molecular weight of cellulose was related to a prolonged period of sonication. The decrease in molecular weight related to solutions of chitosan [55] and cellulose nitrate [50b] subjected to ultrasound waves for 100 h and 1.5 h, respectively, asymptotically approached a plateau in the degree of polymerization [45].

The overlays of molar mass distributions of cellulose prior to and at various stages of ultrasonic degradation, up to 13 h, are shown in Fig. 9 [56]. The molar mass distribution of cellulose tends to narrow according to increasing exposure of the solution to ultrasound waves. It is worth mentioning that changes in the molar mass distributions occur at molar masses above 100 kg/mol [56].

3.2.4. Morphology

Rougher and cracked surfaces are preferable for the adsorption of enzyme [42,43,45,57]. The studies on the morphological structure of sonicated cellulose assayed by using scanning electron microscope (SEM) and transmission electron microscopy revealed that the dimensions of the cellulose samples had been significantly decreased, especially when samples were subjected to a direct sonication with ultrasound. When materials present in a liquid suspension are exposed to ultrasound, the particles are affected by either surface erosion via cavitation collapse in the surrounding liquid or size reduction due to fission through interparticle collision or the collapse of bubbles formed on the surface of the materials [35]. After subjecting switchgrass soaked in ammonia to 2000 J of ultrasound irradiation, the size and bulk volume of the material was reduced compared to the unsonicated samples. However, there were still large pieces of cellulose materials remaining in the sonicated samples at 2000 J, but not at 5000 J [49].

The particle size of microcrystalline cellulose can be significantly reduced under pretreatment by direct ultrasound irradiation [42,58]. Lignocellulosic substrates exposed to ultrasound waves are effectively milled by the shock waves generated by the collapse of bubbles. This assisted in the increase of total surface area of wood sawdust exposed to enzymatic attack.

However, the particle size of rice hull, after pretreatment using the ultrasonic system (250 W, 40 kHz), did not significantly decrease, which could be due to the high ultrasonic frequency used in the study conducted by Yu et al. [35]. According to their observations, ultrasound irradiation was at least able to create surface erosion due to the cavitational collapse in the surrounding liquid. Zhang et al. [40] reported that the surface conformation of the granulated raw material is not changed. An ultrasonic power of 80 W was used in their study, which seems to be low and unable to generate violent cavitation to cause changes to the structure of granules.

The morphology and structure of cellulose fibers have changed after ultrasound treatment less than 400 W and 360 s, so that peeling in the form of large pieces or in the form of smaller flakes and partial fibrillation were observed [57b]. On the contrary, the ultrasound with power of 500 W for 150 s assisting polyethylene glycol (PEG) treatment was not able to reduce the size of cellulose fibers [44]. It seems that PEG was dispersed in the cellulose network with assistance of ultrasound to weaken the original inter- and intra-macromolecular hydrogen bonds without breaking the surface morphology of cellulose, resulting in the relatively lower crystallinity.

Almost all of the related studies reported that ultrasound irradiation treatment could change the surface morphology of cellulosic samples [5]. Erosion was found on the surface of lignocellulosic material [58]. The study of Wood et al. revealed that ultrasound irradiation converted the sample surface into a tangle of filaments, each 20–40 nm in diameter and many microns in length [57a]. It was revealed that many concave pits and cracks will form on the surface of sonicated MCC, which induce an increase of specific area and the improvement of accessibility [5,43]. Tang et al. [57b] also observed the peeling of a sample surface in the form of large pieces or in the form of smaller flakes.



Fig. 9. Overlay of the molar mass distributions of cellulose, at various sonication times (reproduced from Ref. [56]).

Easson et al. [59] reported that ultrasound-induced pitting increases substrate surface area of switchgrass and affects the reaction rate and yield. The structure of sweet sorghum exposed to the ultrasound irradiation was also opened up to resemble more sponge-like structures, which could also provide higher surface areas [46].

The findings of the study performed by Yang et al. [47] indicated that the structures of IL-treated cellulose under ultrasound became even looser and less compact, illustrating the partial disruption of linkages in cellulose. Phosphoric acid treatment with sonication seemed to completely disintegrate the lignocellulosic fibers in bagasse and made a uniform structure with less vacant area [46]. It is worth mentioning that acid pretreatments, however, also produce lignin that obscures the access of cellulose enzymes to cellulose through surface redeposition. The use of ultrasound irradiation before enzyme hydrolysis may disrupt lignin–cellulose hydrophobic interactions and enhances the enzymatic conversion of cellulose into fermentable sugars [11].

3.3. Effect of ultrasound on sugar yield

Because sugar and ethanol yields are usually considered proportional, many studies were conducted only for sugar yield [5]. Lignocellulose materials treated with ultrasound irradiation could obtain higher sugar yield following hydrolysis compared to that without ultrasound [39,57a]. Yachmenev et al. [26a] reported that ultrasonic treatment could increase the sugar yield by more than 10%. Rezania et al. [60] found that the amount of released glucose for sawdust slurries sonicated at a frequency of 20 kHz and a power output of 120 W for 2 h, 4 h and 12 h was found to be 22%, 43% and 53% higher compared to that of the unsonicated sample, respectively. Lignocellulosic materials irritated with ultrasound before enzyme hydrolysis may disrupt lignin-cellulose hydrophobic interactions and increase the enzymatic conversion of cellulose into fermentable sugars [11]. Ultrasound irradiation was also reported to be extremely effective in delignifying wheat straw, so that the residual lignin content for pulp and paper production was reduced by more than 75% [61]. Corn slurry samples exposed to ultrasound also released 30% more sugar than untreated samples [62]. Ultrasonic treatment together with aeration provided much higher efficiency in hydrolysis of cellulosic materials. The hydrolysis rates for samples of sonicated with and without aeration were determined to be 0.28 ppm/min and 0.07 ppm/min glucose, respectively [63].

Low level uniform ultrasound waves applied to the cellulosic solutions containing enzyme do not reduce the specific activity of enzyme macromolecules in any significant way [26a]. Recent investigations revealed that the use of proper intensity ultrasound waves can enhance the permeability of cell membranes [40,55] and improve the catalytic activity of enzymes [40,64]. Using the ultrasound waves in the reaction solutions related to the enzymatic hydrolysis of corn stover and sugar cane bagasse samples caused a significant improvement in enzyme efficiency [26a]. The ultrasound acts directly on the cellulosic substrates and cause them to partially degrade, leading for easier enzymatic reaction. Micro-jets and shock waves generated by ultrasound cause a certain degree of impact to the enzyme molecules together with the substrate, resulting in increasing their contact time and subsequently increasing the reaction rate with a faster release rate of sugars [40].

NaOH treatment together with ultrasound irradiation was found to be an efficient alternative for pretreatment of bagasse before enzymatic hydrolysis [46]. Alkali treatment combined with ultrasound is capable of reducing the reaction process intensity, the reaction time and the amounts of alkali required [40]. In comparing pretreatments of NaOH and phosphoric acid with and without ultrasound, the hydrolysis of pretreated bagasse by NaOH solution assisted with ultrasound was the most effective treatment, where more than 92% of the theoretical glucose yield was obtained within 72 h [46]. The decomposition of the alkali treated substrate subjected to ultrasound irradiation can be higher than that of the alkali pretreatment alone [40]. Although early during hydrolysis, ultrasonic-assisted NaOH significantly enhanced the hydrolysis rate, NaOH pretreatment alone finally achieved the same glucose yield as the ultrasonic-assisted NaOH treatment [46]. However, Zhang et al. [40] reported that by using ultrasound waves, the same decomposition rate of the raw material can be obtained if the alkali concentration is reduced from 8% to 5%, as well as the hydrolysis time is reduced from 1.5 h to 30 min. This improvement can be due to the mass transfer intensification and the alkali solubility enhanced by the cavitation effects introduced by the ultrasound [5,42]. The collapse of bubbles generates the energy, which is transmitted to the hydrolysis process resulting in improving the process of mass transfer and diffusion of the enzyme to the substrate and the product entering the solute. Ultrasound waves can also change the conformation of the enzyme molecule, which causes it to assume a more suitable structure for combination with the substrate, so that the ultrasound waves are found to exert a catalytic function [40].

Montalbo-Lomboy et al. [49] reported that switchgrass treated by ultrasonic-assisted ammonia released about 10% more fermentable sugars compared to that of ammonia treatment alone. In another study, it was found that the ultrasonic treatment of switchgrass resulted in an increase of 7.5% in releasing fermentable sugars, but 9.3% in experiments using ultrasound on switchgrass soaked in ammonium hydroxide [59]. However, the net energy balance was not favorable and further investigations on re-evaluating the design and conditions were recommended in order to improve ultrasonic treatment of lignocellulosic materials.

The synergistic effect of ultrasound and acid catalyzed reaction can considerably reduce the time required for hydrolysis [46,65]. This improvement can be due to decreasing the inhibitors observed in ultrasonic-assisted acid hydrolysis [65]. Aguilar et al. [66] reported that hydrolysis with 2% H₂SO₄ at a temperature of 121 °C was found to generate 3.65 g/L of furfural, whereas in another study conducted by Velmurugan and Muthukumar [65], the furfural concentration observed was very low (0.1 g/L) in the hydrolysis with 2% H₂SO₄ subjected to ultrasound due to the lower reaction temperature possible.

Combining ultrasound and ILs has proven to be an effective pretreatment of lignocellulosic materials [32,47,67]. The cellulose saccharification ratio of kenaf powder in EmimOAc was 86% after only 15 min of ultrasonic pretreatment at 25 °C, compared to only 47% in the case of thermal pretreatment at 110 °C for 120 min in the study by Ninomiya et al. [32]. In another study, cellulose dissolved in ionic liquids with ultrasonic heating pretreatment was found to increase conversion to glucose by 53% compared to that of untreated cellulose. Similar research has demonstrated that ultrasound pretreatment can enhance the dissolution of cellulose in ionic liquids [67]. The cellulose saccharification by pretreating lignocellulosic in EmimOAc can reach 90-95%, even when the lignin content in the pretreated lignocellulosic material was 60-70% of that in the untreated original samples [32,68]. These findings mean that it is not necessary to remove all lignin present in the lignocellulose. Rather, the disruption of the lignin structure is enough that the enzyme molecules can access the polysaccharides to achieve an almost 100% cellulose hydrolysis into glucose [32]. The ionic liquid pretreatment together with ultrasound waves might be key to the disruption of rigid lignin structures. However, further investigations into the synergetic effects of ultrasound and ionic liquids on the physical and chemical properties of lignin is recommended.

Table 5

Simplified kinetic model related to enzymatic hydrolysis of cellulose [39,69].

$Cellulose(S) \xrightarrow{BG/CBH} Oligosaccharides(O) \xleftarrow{BG} Glucose(G)$	(5)
Rate of production of total sugar $\frac{dC}{dt} = \frac{kE_0(C_{\infty} - C)}{K_M[1 + (1/K_1)C] + 0.9(C_{\infty} - C)}$	(6)
Equilibrium contant $K = G/O = G/(C - G)$	(7)
Where EG, CBH and BG are endoglucanase, cellobiohydrolase and b-glucosidase, respectively; C_{∞} , k, K_M and K_1 are ultimate total sugar concentration, apparer	it rate
constant, apparent Michaelis constant and apparent inhibition constant, respectively, and $C=O+G$	

Table 6

Summary of various processes used for the pretreatment of lignocellulosic biomass [1a].

Pretreatment process	Advantages	Limitations and disadvantages		
Mechanical comminution	Reduces cellulose crystallinity	The energy consumption as a function of final particle size and comminution ratio, often higher than inherent biomass energy		
Steam explosion	Causes hemicellulose degradation and lignin transformation; cost-effective	Destruction of a portion of the xylan fraction; incomplete disruption of the lignin-carbohydrate matrix; generation of compounds inhibitory to microoreanisms		
Ammonia fiber explosion	Increases accessible surface area, removes lignin and hemicellulose to an extent; does not produce inhibitors for downstream processes	Not efficient for biomass with high lignin content		
CO ₂ explosion	Increases accessible surface area; cost-effective; does not cause formation of inhibitory compounds	Does not modify lignin or hemicelluloses		
Ozonolysis	Reduces lignin content; does not produce toxic residues	Large amount of ozone required; expensive		
Acid hydrolysis	Hydrolyzes hemicellulose to xylose and other sugars; alters lignin structure	High cost; equipment corrosion; formation of toxic substances		
Alkaline hydrolysis	Removes hemicelluloses and lignin; increases accessible surface area	Long residence times required; irrecoverable salts formed and incorporated into biomass		
Organosolv	Hydrolyzes lignin and hemicelluloses	Solvents need to be drained from the reactor, evaporated, condensed, and recycled; high cost		
Pyrolysis	Produces gas and liquid products	High temperature; ash/char production		
Pulsed electrical field	Ambient conditions; disrupts plant cells; simple equipment	Process needs more research		
Biological	Degrades lignin and hemicelluloses; low energy requirements	Rate of hydrolysis is very low		
Ultrasonic	Increases accessible surface area; disrupts plant cells; does not produce inhibitors for downstream processes	Process needs more research		

A novel two-step pretreatment for enzymatic hydrolysis of rice hull (RH), including a mild physical step by ultrasound and a subsequent biological treatment by *Pleurotus ostreatus* was introduced by Yu et al. [35]. After a combined pretreatment of ultrasound (250 W, 30 min) and *P. ostreatus*, the net sugar yield obtained was 32.2%, which was about 4.2 times higher than that by fungal pretreatment alone. The combined pretreatments notably enhanced the delignification rates and reduced the losses of the carbohydrates, which effectively shortened the residence time.

Although many studies during the last decade in the field of ultrasonic treatment have focused on the aspect of microbial reactions [39], a few kinetic studies have been conducted on the effects of ultrasonic intensity and reactor size on the enzymatic reaction [69]. An ultrasonic power of 30 W applied to waste paper solution in scaling up from 0.8 L to 3.2 L was able to significantly enhance the saccharification although it was less efficient in scaling up from 3.2 L to 6.4 L. This phenomenon might be attributed to the decrease in specific ultrasonic intensity with scale-up. It is interesting to note that the heat generated by ultrasound irradiation is more easily controlled in larger scale reactors. Simplified kinetic models for enzymatic hydrolysis of cellulose in different scale ultrasonic reactors are presented in Table 5, which are explained in detail in the literature [39,69]. The apparent ultimate conversion of cellulosic substrates can be correlated as a function of the ratio of the initial substrate to enzyme concentration in each fixed specific ultrasonic intensity range. Another result related to the design of ultrasonic reactors was that periodic application of ultrasound for 120 min with 15 s on and 105 s off could generate about 20% higher sugar yield than continuous ultrasound [5,42].

3.4. Effect of ultrasound on ethanol yield

Wood et al. [57a] reported that ultrasonic treatment could generate a nearly 20% ethanol enhancement from mixed waste office paper after 96 h of fermentation. The ethanol yield was directly correlated with the ultrasonic treatment time. It was also observed in their study that periodic ultrasound irradiation for 120 min with 15 s on and 105 s off could increase ethanol yield about 30% compared to that of continuous ultrasonic. Ultrasound-assisted NaOH also enhanced ethanol yield from sweet sorghum bagasse by the fungus Mucor hiemalis by up to 81%, which was the best result for ethanol production among all the applied pretreatment techniques such as NaOH and phosphoric acid with and without ultrasound in the study of Goshadrou et al. [46]. Velmurugan and Muthukumar [65] conducted a study on the production of sugar monomers from sugarcane bagasse (SCB) by sonoassisted acid hydrolysis to analyze the potential fermentability of produced sugars using Saccharomyces cerevisiae. They reported an ethanol yield after 60 h of incubation of 8.11 g/L, which corresponds to 91.8% of the theoretical yield. Cheng et al. [70] obtained about 0.36 g/g as the ethanol yield of sugars during the fermentation of hydrolyzed SCB. In the study performed by Velmurugan and Muthukumar, the

ethanol production observed was 0.43 g/g of glucose. *S. cerevisiae* did not utilize pentoses released during ultrasonic-assisted acid hydrolysis [65,71].

Generally, there are both advantages and disadvantages of ultrasonic pretreatment of lignocellulosic biomass compared to other pretreatments as explained by Kumar et al. [1a]. In order to complement the previous work, the properties of ultrasonic pretreatment have been compared in summary with various other pretreatment processes in Table 6. It must be emphasized that it is not always possible to transfer the results of pretreatment from one type of biomass material to another. The choice of a pretreatment technology used for a particular biomass is dependent on the composition and the byproducts produced as a result of pretreatment. These factors significantly affect the costs associated with a pretreatment method.

4. Starch

4.1. Process of producing ethanol from starch

4.1.1. Structure

Starch granules are semi-crystalline particles in a variety of size from 1 μ m to 100 μ m and structure dependent on botanic origin [72]. The basic building block of these semi-crystalline particles is a glycosyl monomer in size of around 0.3 nm. In general, the structure of semi-crystalline native starch granules is found as a hierarchical structural periodicity (Fig. 10), having a layered organization with alternating radial rings of amorphous and semi-crystalline material in thickness of 120–400 nm [73]. Although the amorphous rings are formed by amylose and amylopectin in a disordered conformation, the semi-crystalline rings consist of a lamellar structure of alternating crystalline and amorphous regions with a regular repeat distance of 9–10 nm [9].

Amylose is a linear polymer connected by α -1,4 glycosidic bonds and amylopectin is assumed highly branched connected by both α -1,6 and α -1,4 glycosidic bonds [72]. Amylopectin clusters involve amylose molecules that pass through both the crystalline and amorphous layers. The amylose molecules present in crystalline regions are considered to be in a straightened conformation, whereas these molecules are found in a disordered conformation in amorphous regions [9].

4.1.2. Conversion of starch to ethanol

Rupture and disintegration of the compact crystalline granular structure in water through a process known as gelatinization is an important mechanism in starch processing [74]. Indeed, the process of starch gelatinization is the loss of the semi-crystalline structure or the melting of starch crystallites in the presence of water, which is dependent on other factors such as temperature and solid-to-liquid ratio [6]. The starch granules, during gelatinization, swell and exude part of the amylose, leading to more susceptibility to enzyme degradation [75]. Enzymes are considered an important factor in the breakdown of starch. Alpha-amylase is known to act on both solutions of starch granules and insoluble starch. Glucose can be produced from the action of amyloglucosidase on α -amylase degradation products [6]. The liquefied starch as crude mash can simultaneously be saccharified and fermented in one vessel. By adding amyloglucosidase enzyme and yeasts to the slurry concomitantly, a process of simultaneous saccharification and fermentation (SSF) might be conducted in a single reactor [6].

4.2. Effect of ultrasound on physical characteristics of starch

4.2.1. Swelling power and disintegration

When starch granules are heated in water, they swell and their size and shape changes. Blocklet-like structures scatter, crystalline regions are irreversibly disrupted, birefringence is lost as double helices unwind and starch becomes soluble [76]. This molecular disordering is known as gelatinization, and is initiated by swelling of amorphous growth rings within the granule accompanied by leaching of amylose from the granule [9]. Disruption of starch crystallites can occur after the amorphous regions absorb a significant amount of water, which provides a sufficient stress through connectivity of molecules from the amorphous region to the semi-crystalline lamellae. In general, the structural changes of starch during gelatinization include a crystallite melting and double-helix unwinding, absorption of water in the amorphous region of starch, as well as displacement of amylopectin units and leaching of amylose from the granules [9,76]. The ultrasonic treatment enhances disintegration of starch granules, leading to an acceleration of starch hydrolysis due to exposing a much larger surface area to enzymes, increasing the release of fermentable sugars and thereby increasing ethanol productivity [62,77]. Nearly complete disintegration of corn starch and cassava cells was observed with large numbers of fragmented cell materials by high-power ultrasonic treatment for 40 s [11.62.78].

The swelling power of sugary corn (containing 30% amylose) subjected to ultrasound irradiation was initiated as quickly as 5 s and increased rapidly [79]. The swelling power and the rate of degradation related to utrasonicated samples are accelerated at or above the gelatinization temperature [80]. The rate of swelling



Fig. 10. Overview of starch granule structure: (a) whole granule, (b) lamellae, and (c) polymer chains (adapted from Ref. [73]).

Table 7
The degree of granule disintegration and the degree of solubilization of starches
and polysaccharides at 65 °C, 75 °C and 85 °C. [82].

Samples	Sonication time (min)	Degree of granule disintegration		e	Degree solubil	e of lization	
		65 °C	75 °C	85 °C	65 °C	75 °C	85 °C
Waxy maize	0	3.5	25.7	22.6	0.00	0.28	0.48
	1	2.9	0.6	0.5	0.11	0.96	0.94
	5	2.5	0.5	0.4	0.16	0.99	0.95
FOLALO	1 5	28.8 2.9 1.1	1.8 0.5	2.3 1.2	0.63 0.71	0.89 0.93	0.90 0.94
Tapioca	0	22.0	26.9	31.0	0.13	0.17	0.24
	1	1.7	0.8	0.8	0.80	0.96	0.96
	5	0.6	0.5	0.8	0.84	0.99	1.02
Sweet potato	0	2.5	6.5	19.7	0.01	0.05	0.15
	1	2.1	2.4	0.5	0.02	0.38	0.91
	5	2.0	1.7	0.3	0.03	0.43	0.90
Corn	0	4.4	9.1	9.5	0.02	0.05	0.08
	1	4.7	6.4	7.7	0.02	0.09	0.22
	5	4.2	4.8	3.1	0.03	0.45	0.71

(gelatinization) is higher with ultrasonic treatment in comparison to that of heating only. Montalbo-Lomboy et al. [79] reported that the final swelling power of sugary corn is substantially higher (around 6 g/ g) for the ultrasonic treatment compared to samples that were heated only (2.8 g/g). This increase in swelling power is believed to be due to the fact that ultrasonic treatment affects the amorphous regions of starch and enhances water absorption [64]. Aside from that, ultrasound waves can gradually separate starch agglomerates and reduce starch molecule sizes, which promotes the solubilization of the amylase in the suspension into a three-dimensional gel network [81]. The degree of granule disintegration increases as the swelling of the starch granules treated by heat proceeds as the temperature increases (Table 7). With the ultrasonic treatment as short as 1 min, the swelled granule disintegrates and a certain amount of the contents is solubilized [82]. With increasing ultrasound power and intensity, the swelling power increases. The increase in swelling power of starches subjected to ultrasound irradiation is also higher for samples at higher temperatures [83].

The swelling power of sugary corn-2 (from 2.5 g/g to 5.0 g/g) was found to be higher than that of commodity corn (1.9–2.6 g/g) in the varied conditions of sonication [79]. In contrast, some studies considered that swelling power is lower for sugary corn starches in comparison with normal corn starches [84]. This might be explained by the fact that Montalbo-Lomboy et al. [79] used ground corn instead of corn starch in their study. It should be noted that starch used in the study conducted by Montalbo-Lomboy et al. is embedded in the corn kernel matrix, which may be more difficult to gelatinize than free granular starch. However, ultrasonic treatment can enhance the release of the starch.

4.2.2. Particle size

Most of effective factors in the conversion of starch to ethanol such as starch composition, solubility, gelatinization and pasting properties, enzyme susceptibility, crystallinity, and swelling are all affected by the granule size [34]. The reduction in particle size and opening up of starch fibrous structure can decrease the dose of enzymes needed, shorten the conversion time of starch to ethanol, improve the efficiency of the starch hydrolysis, increase the overall sugar yield, and even eliminate some of the unit processes, which ultimately results in an overall improvement in ethanol yield and reduction in cost [78]. Reduction in starch particle size can also enhance mass transfer and lead to an increase in enzyme activity [62].

Several studies have investigated the effects of ultrasound on the particle sizes of starches [62,77,78,83,85]. The hydrodynamic shear force introduced by ultrasound irradiation causes the disintegration of starch particles into a slurry into finer particles, significantly enhancing the surface area for enzyme activity [85a]. A reduction of 10-20-fold in corn particle sizes derived from a dry-grind ethanol plant following ultrasound pretreatment was observed by Khanal et al. [62]. They reported that ultrasound pretreatment enhanced glucose release during enzymatic hydrolysis of corn meal mainly due to reduction in particle size. Reduction in particle size causes better mixing and the release of starch that was bound to lipids and did not have access to the hydrolyzing enzyme [77]. In other studies a 20-fold reduction in corn particle size following ultrasonic treatment was reported [62]. Particle size reduction of rice grains resulted from ultrasonic treatment caused in shorter cooking times and faster gelatinization [86]. Ultrasonic treatment reduced cassava particle size nearly 40-fold at an output power as high as 8 W/mL [78]. The ultrasonic treatment not only contributes to the particle size reduction of starches in solutions, but also heat generated assists starch gelatinization, which is required in enzymatic starch hydrolysis [85a]. Luo et al. [85b] reported that ultrasonic treatment did not alter the size and shape of the maize starch granules that were not dissolved in water as cavitation only forms in the liquid phase. However, the ultrasound could develop some porosity on the surface of normal and waxy maize starches. Microwaves affected granule degradation of corn meal after liquefaction even more than ultrasound. However, both pretreatments were very effective in enhancing the enzymatic hydrolysis in comparison with conventional heating [77,87].

The volume weighted mean particle size is inversely proportional to the applied sono-energy densities [86]. Particle size reduction is directly proportional to power level and sonication time. The particle size reduction of starches at the higher power level and longer sonication time enhance glucose yield under similar conditions. The relative volume of corn slurry increased as the ultrasound intensity level increased for both 20 s and 40 s of sonication. These data are in close agreement with Khanal et al. [62], where starch size was inversely proportional to ultrasound intensity. The extent of damage to starch granules suspensions is only slightly proportional to the ultrasonic intensity at the beginning, then increases markedly with the ultrasonic intensity after a power threshold is reached [26b]. Jambrak et al. [83] observed that when applying more than the optimum ultrasonic intensity, starch granules tended to agglomerate becoming larger in shape and size, which is attributed to liberated bonds that offer the opportunity to connect linkages between polymers. However ultrasound with an optimal intensity can reduce the starch granule size and consequently change the physical/chemical properties of starch.

Particle size distribution of sonicated starch is not absolutely lognormal. In the results reported by Montalbo-Lomboy et al. [86], at 50% probability the particle size of control (without sonication) was 361.8 µm while particle sizes of low (140-153 W), medium (214-228 W) and high (199-298W) ultrasonic power were 115.2 µm, 61.0 µm and 35.2 µm, respectively. Montalbo-Lomboy et al. also reported that the particle size reduction related to corn slurry samples treated in a batch ultrasonic system was more than that of the samples treated in continuous-flow ultrasonic system (Fig. 11). The higher ultrasound intensity in a batch system enhanced the reduction of particle size compared to that of the lower energy input applied to samples in continuous flow systems. In their experiment, the energy densities of the batch and continuous ultrasonic systems ranged from 87 kJ/L to 260 kJ/L and 4–14 kJ/L, respectively. However, due to the large volume involved in full scale processes, they recommended a continuous ultrasonic system in order to pretreat starch for its conversion to а

b

Continuously Stirred Feed Tank

t,





Fig. 11. Schematic of (a) continuous flow experimental set-up and (b) Branson ultrasonic "donut" shaped horn, used in the experiments of Montalbo-Lomboy et al. [86].

ethanol. Reduction in the particle sizes of starches subjected to ultrasound probes is also markedly more than that with ultrasound bath [83].

According to Khanal et al. [62] the peak of particle size distribution curve shifted from $800\,\mu m$ to around $80\,\mu m$ following sonication at high power levels (475 W, 40 s) for cooked corn slurry samples. In another study, the inflection point of the particle size distribution curve of corn slurry was shifted from 500 μ m to approximately 20 μ m following sonication (199–298 W, 40 s) [86]. Three peaks of 600 µm, $200 \,\mu m$, and $15 \,\mu m$ were found in the particle size distribution curves of cassava chip slurry, while the peak of 600 μ m was shifted to 200 μ m and 15 µm following ultrasonic treatment especially at medium and high power levels. Although the number of 600 um particles decreased after sonication, this peak is expected to represent milled cassava particles that were not affected by ultrasound treatment. In contrast, the 200 µm peak was related to cell morphologies of the cassava chips affected by sonication. The 15 µm peak corresponded to the individual starch granules [85a]. Such a decrease in the particle size distribution due to ultrasound is in agreement with the results reported for corn slurry [62], for uranium ore slurry [88] and for sorghum slurry [89].

4.2.3. Morphology

Ultrasonic pretreatment can alter the structure of starches [11,77,87]. The destruction of starch structures might result in release of more individual starch granules to the aqueous phase,

which enhances the enzymatic hydrolysis [78]. Structural changes of starch granules pretreated after the liquefaction is started were more than that before liquefaction. However, ultrasound is more effective in decomposing starch in comparison with conventional heating [77,87]. Ultrasound during just 20 s pretreatment could partially rupture the starch granules. When inspected under high magnification, the granules were coated with what is believed to be gelatinized starch. Starch granules might be more gelatinized with increasing treatment time by using ultrasound, so that after 40 s the samples appeared to be fully gelatinized [62,79].

The final temperature in the reaction chambers increases in direct proportion to the power setting and the treatment time, because ultrasound waves in the reactions can produce heat, which can be effective for breaking down intra-molecular bonds and improving the starch gelatinization process [79]. Under temperature-controlled conditions, the disintegration of cassava cell structures was directly proportional to power and time of sonication so that near-complete disintegration of cassava cell structures was observed in samples subjected to ultrasonic power of 8 W/mL for 40 s [78]. Similar results were reported for other types of starches [90].

Fig. 12 shows polarized microscope images of sugary starch (A) without and (B) with pretreatment [79]. The untreated samples display a clear Maltese cross pattern, which is typical for ungelatinized starch granules [91]. These spherulites are related to semi-crystalline structures of starch. As can be seen from the figure, spherulites and birefringence were more



Fig. 12. Polarized microscope images of (A) untreated and (B) sonicated samples shown at 22.5 magnification to emphasize the Maltese cross pattern in the starch granule (reproduced from Ref. [79]).

pronounced in the untreated starch samples (Fig. 12A) compared to the sonicated samples (Fig. 12B). It is also known that the amount of birefringence is proportional to the degree of crystallinity [91]. The starch samples pretreated by ultrasound had no birefringence in the center of the spherulite [92], which indicates that the samples had a lower degree of crystallinity and were partially gelatinized. In other research, the starch granules and their birefringence were not observed in the cooked slurry samples both with and without ultrasonic pretreatment. Heat treatment not only played a positive role in improvement of starch gelatinization (loss of birefringence) but also destroyed the starch granule structures. However, starch granules disintegrated by ultrasound irradiation generated more ethanol than only heat treated starch granules [85a].

Huang et al. [64] reported that many Maltese crosses do not disappear after ultrasound treatment of corn starch granules. They believed that ultrasonic treatment cannot destroy the whole structure of the starch granules but may change parts of them and the holes formed on the surface of the sonicated starch granules are likely the amorphous parts. Many micropores with different sizes were observed on the surface of ultrasound-treated normal and waxy maize particles. The pores are generally evenly distributed and take on alveolar shapes in some granules [62,64,85b]. Internal cavities at the granule hilum, together with formed pores at the surfaces of starch granules sonicated as well as channels connecting the two can enhance the efficiency of granule reactions [93]. Thus, the holes may increase the surface area of the starch and the channels may permit reagents to more easily penetrate into the bulk of the granule, which may enhance the speed of chemical reactions [64].

4.2.4. Depolymerization

Degree of polymerization (DP) of amylose and amylopectin are considered in the range of 50–6000 and 30,000–300,000 glucose units, respectively [94]. A strand of amylose is reported to have molecular weight in the range of 104–106 Da and estimated around 107–108 Da for an amylopectin strand [6].

Ultrasonic treatment for depolymerization has been considered on a variety of homo- and hetero-polysaccharides such as dextran [95], pullulan [96], chitosan [97], hyaluronic acid [98], xyloglucan [99] and starch [100]. Ultrasound irradiation can cause rupturing and mechanical damage in the starch granules by collapse of bubbles, which in turn generates the shear forces capable in breaking the polymers chains. Some water present in the solution is also decomposed into OH and H radicals in the collapse of cavitation bubbles. Interestingly, in the process of cavitation, some of these radicals diffuse out of the bubbles to the surrounding liquid, and then react with molecules present into the solution causing polymer degradation [83]. The shear stress created by stable cavitation is considered effective if able to degrade high molecular weight polymers even without the presence of bubble collapse [101]. Ultrasonic treatment apparently expedites the polymer degradation of starch by separating the amylopectin chains and leaching out amylose chains from the collective entity [82]. The shear forces introduced by ultrasound waves can weaken the interactions between the polymer-molecules and as a result, the viscosity is reduced by the destruction of the polymer network [82].

Seguchi et al. [102] reported that ultrasonic treatment gradually separated starch agglomerate and reduced starch molecular sizes. Isono et al. [80] also observed a reduction in the average molecular weight of waxy rice starch subjected to ultrasound waves. Similar results were obtained by other scientists [26b,79,85b,86]. Vodeničarová et al. [99] concluded that ultrasonic treatment was the most convenient procedure to decrease the molecular mass in comparison of γ -radiation and microwave treatments. Their results revealed that depolymerization by ultrasound generated products without significant alteration of the primary structure of the polysaccharide, while degradation by microwave treatment altered the composition of sugar due to cleavage of glycosyl side chains. The γ -radiation treatment also generated high-molecular mass components induced by chain cleavage of the polysaccharide during treatment.

According to lida et al. [82], the molecular weight of waxy maize starch sharply decreased in the initial period of 10–30 min sonication and thereafter the depolymerization continued slowly. Also, the starch molecule chains regularly decrease with increasing ultrasound intensity and progressively approach the minimum chain length [83].

4.2.5. Viscosity

The high mash viscosity causes a restriction in enzymatic activity and having greater reaction time is a way of overcoming this limitation. Increasing the reaction time, however, provides more opportunity for deleterious retrogradation, forming amylose-lipid complexes and an increase in the degree of insoluble sugars [6,103]. Fig. 13 shows a typical profile of pasting viscosity of starches analyzed based on a Rapid ViscoAnalyzer (RVA). As can be seen from the figure, pasting temperature corresponds to the point when the temperature rises above the gelatinization temperature, inducing an increase in both starch granule swelling and viscosity. The peak viscosity represents the



Fig. 13. A typical Rapid ViscoAnalyzer (RVA) pasting profile showing the commonly measured parameters (adapted from Ref. [104]).

maximum viscosity reached during the heating and holding cycle and is illustrative of the water holding capacity of starch [104]. The peak temperature occurs at peak viscosity. The breakdown viscosity is basically proportional to the degree of the disintegration of starch granules as they are heated [105] due to granules rupturing and soluble amylose leaching out. The degree of RVA breakdown is dependent on the solubility of the starch, so that the more soluble the starch, the more it will thin on shearing [6]. As the mixture is cooled, a gel forms due to re-association between starch molecules, especially amylose, and viscosity subsequently increases. Finally, the total setback (indicated region in Fig. 13) involves retrogradation, or re-ordering of the starch molecules. However, it is well known that pasting properties of starch are affected by amylose and lipid contents present in the starch, as well as by branch chain-length distribution of amylopectin [6,104].

According to the pioneering work by Szent-Györgyi [106], ultrasonic treatment can reduce the viscosity of the starch solution. Ultrasound irradiation can cause the physical degradation of starch granules, reduction in starch suspension viscosity as well as a decrease in molecular sizes of starch polymer [85b,90b,107]. A drastic decrease was observed in viscosity of the solutions with 5% and 10% of waxy maize, potato, tapioca, sweet potato, glucomannan (1%) and pectin that were sonicated for 30 min after gelatinization (Table 8) [82]. This viscosity reduction in the sonicated starch solutions was also observed even by cooling to room temperature. In a corn wet milling process, ultrasound irradiation applied to solutions was capable of rapidly removing corn pericarp prior to steeping, resulting in a reduction in steeping time and improvement of the isolated starch gelatinization and pasting properties [101]. However, it seems that high concentration of starch slurries, i.e. 25-30% is a limitation for the depression of viscosity, and might not be effectively affected by sonication due to the formation of firm gel within the concentration range [108]. As a recent finding, the pasting temperature of corn starch subjected to ultrasound irradiation increased while a lower maximum viscosity was observed in comparison to non-sonicated corn starch paste [26b]. Ultrasonic treatment of normal and amylomaize V starches could result a reduction in peak viscosity, hot paste viscosity, hot paste viscosity after 30 min holding and cold paste viscosity, but the pasting temperature was unchanged [85b]. As a comparison, the extent of the decrease in viscosity by ultrasonic treatment followed the order: waxy maize < normal maize < amylomaize V. This order is inversely proportional to amylopectin fraction into starch structure. OH radicals generated

Table 8

Changes in the viscosity of starches and polysaccharides by sonication at output power of 100 W. [82].

Samples	Viscosity (mPa s)					
		60 °C	50 °C	40 °C	30 °C	20 °C
Waxy maize	Untreated	254	300	372	440	586
	Treated	8	6	8	10	14
Potato	Untreated	528	782	2100	3110	5410
	Treated	8	8	10	16	20
Tapioca	Untreated	574	900	1420	2110	3200
	Treated	6	8	10	14	16
Sweet potato	Untreated	656	760	912	1140	1310
-	Treated	4	6	6	8	12
Glucomannan (1%)	Untreated	3480	4480	4400	6520	7600
	Treated	64	78	104	178	250
Pectine	Untreated	230	206	480	742	1110
	Treated	134	190	296	424	700

The concentrations of slurries were 5% except for glucomannan (1%).

by cavitation might react with linear amylose and side chains of amylopectin. It appears that linear amylose is more easily attacked by ultrasound than highly branched amylopectin [109].

The viscosity of starch solutions subjected to ultrasound irradiation decreases with increasing temperature. This trend might be attributed to the fact that mechanical effects of ultrasound effectively develop in relatively low viscosity conditions, which are associated with higher temperature [82]. Because the cavitation effects at lower temperatures are more effective than the mechanical effects at higher temperature on the viscosity depression of starch solutions, the decrease in viscosity due to rising sonication temperatures is not so remarkable. Glucoamylase catalysis combined with ultrasonic treatment enhanced the combining-water capacity of microporous starch and was strongly effective in breaking starch granules and increasing viscosity [107]. Chan et al. [110] reported that sodium dodecyl sulphate combined with ultrasonic treatment increased the peak viscosity and reduced the pasting temperature for corn, sago and mung bean starches but not potato starch.

As ultrasonic intensity increases, the molecules absorb ultrasound energy and gradually lose their hydration resulting in the lowering of starch viscosity. The consistency coefficient (a measure of the resistance of a fluid which is being deformed by either shear stress or tensile stress) also decreases stepwise jointly with increasing ultrasound intensity [83]. Benmoussa and Hamaker [90b] reported that higher ultrasonic intensity on solutions of potato starch caused more disintegration of starch granules as well as modification of physicochemical properties, as a result, the starch paste became more transparent with significantly decreased paste viscosity at 70 °C. The viscosity of starch solutions might decrease at lower ultrasound frequencies, around 20 kHz, in comparison with that of higher frequencies [82].

With increasing degree of hydrolysis (DH), the viscosity of starch solutions subjected to ultrasound irradiation decreases, while the pasting temperature as well as temperature of peak viscosity increases [64]. This trend is attributed to the hydrolysis of the amorphous lamellae, resulting in destabilizing the crystalline lamellae by increasing the hydration and swelling of the crystallites. When the structure of amorphous lamellae is degraded, the pasting temperature might increase up to a certain degree of DH, afterwards as the DH increases, the onset and peak temperatures of viscosity decrease, likely due to degradation of crystalline lamellae [111]. The enthalpy of gelatinization (Δ H) is primarily proportional to the loss of double-helical order with unraveling and melting during gelatinization. At low DH, Δ H values of starch solutions treated by ultrasound might be enhanced because the

amorphous regions are degraded prior to the crystalline regions. However, some of the double helices present in crystalline and in non-crystalline regions of the starch structure will be disrupted at higher DH, which results in a decrease in ΔH values of the starch [26b,64].

4.3. Effect of ultrasound on hydrolysis

Ultrasound irradiation during starch hydrolysis was used as early as 1933 by Szent-Gyorgyi [106]. Ultrasound waves can generate hydrodynamic shear forces in the aqueous starch solutions, which assist the disruption of coarse particles and fibers of starch present in the solution [85a]. The destruction of starch cell structures during treatment by ultrasound releases more starch granules in the aqueous phase, resulting in exposing a much larger surface area to enzymes. Therefore, it is expected that samples subjected to ultrasound irradiation show higher reducing sugar release than the untreated samples [10a,62,77-79,85a,86,87]. In general, reduction in particle size, better mixing and the release of starch bonded to lipids that do not have access to the hydrolyzing enzyme are found as basic reasons for the success of ultrasonic pretreatment in enhancing glucose release during enzymatic hydrolysis of starch. Cavitational collapse introduced by ultrasound irradiation into the enzyme processing solution significantly enhances the transport of enzyme macromolecules toward the substrate surface of starch, leading to increase of enzymatic hydrolysis yields [62]. Ultrasonic treatment enhances starchprotein separation and subsequently increases α -amylase activity, resulting in improvement of sugar release [101,102,112].

According to Huang et al. [64], the degree of hydrolysis of cornstarch granules increased sharply as the ultrasonication time was increased from 3 min to 9 min, while from 9 min to 15 min. the degree of hydrolysis increased very slowly. Ultrasound irradiation might be effective in the amorphous regions of starch during the period of 3-9 min, while even with longer ultrasonic treatment compact crystalline regions of starch might not be easily degraded. Although many researchers [10a,89] reported similar results, Nikolic et al. [77] believe that this phenomenon is attributed to the fact that further sonication after the optimum time causes a decrease in the final glucose concentration due to enzyme inhibition caused by glucose accumulation. Similarly, Kolusheva and Marinova [113] concluded that elevated concentration of glucose could affect the α -amylase inhibition and as a result, significantly decrease the starch hydrolysis rate. In the work of Shewale and Pandit [89], ultrasound treatment of 1 min with a power of 750 W applied to sorghum starch resulted in an increased saccharification by about 8%. This increase in the percentage of saccharification was attributed to the availability of additional starch for hydrolysis due to disruption of the protein matrix (surrounding starch granules) and the amylose-lipid complex by ultrasound irradiation. A higher ultrasonic intensity than the optimum value does not improve the sugar release in the hydrolysis of starch samples with prior enzyme addition, because sonication power more than the optimum value likely causes enzyme denaturation during hydrolysis [62,79]. Aside from that, in glass chambers, an excessive motion/agitation of the water occurs with high ultrasound power, which may cause decoupling between the water and horn. This decoupling can reduce the transmission of energy/power from the horn to the water. Thus, it is expected that further increase of the amplitude continues to increase the power dissipation.

As is clear from ultrasound characteristics, the final temperature of the sonicated samples without temperature control will increase in direct proportion to the power setting and treatment time. Both sonication time and power level need to be optimized in order to obtain the maximum glucose release. The effect of sonication temperature on hydrolysis of starches is significantly dependent on type, origin and chemical composition, as well as other process parameters employed [87]. For instance, the optimum sonication temperature was found to be in the range of 30–40 °C for hydrolysis of corn meal [62], while a temperature of 60 °C was considered as the optimum sonication temperature in pre-treatment of Triticale [10a,87]. However, it is believed that an increase in reducing sugar release for all sonicated starches is not due to the thermal effect but is attributed to particle size reduction and release of starch granules from fibrous structures [78,79]. Heat generated during sonication may have no effect on reducing sugar vield unless the temperature reaches the starch gelatinization point.

Saccharification of sugary corn subjected to ultrasound waves was obtained faster than treated commodity corn under the same conditions. Thus, sugary corn can be more easily disrupted in comparison with commodity corn [79]. Enzyme added to cassava slurry prior to sonication has shown a higher sugar release compared to that after sonication, which is attributed to stimulation of enzyme activity due to the acoustic streaming effect [62,78]. However, at high power and long sonication times a decrease will occur due to denaturation/degradation of enzyme due to excessive ultrasound pretreatment and the heat generated during sonication. Ultrasonic treatment could obtain a theoretical starch conversion after 3 h of saccharification as much as a jet cooking treatment at pressure of 80 psi and temperature of 150 °C, thereby it might be evident that ultrasonication could be considered a potential alternative to jet cooking [79]. The reaction rate for the control sample (nonsonicated), based on Arrhenius kinetics presented by Khanal et al. [62], was threefold higher than that of the ultrasonic treated sample. This difference in the reaction rate is due to the fact that the final glucose concentration for the ultrasonic treated sample was much higher than that of the control sample. Thus, the ultrasonic treated sample might require more time to reach the final reaction time. Khanal et al. believe that this significant enhancement of glucose release might be attributed to the fact that no enzymes were introduced into the experiment until the final saccharification step. A comparison among total solid contents of 5%, 15%, and 25% revealed that the highest reducing sugar yield was obtained at 25% total solid level, which resulted the highest energy efficiency. At higher total solid contents, more particles might be subjected to sonication energy, which opens up cell structures and releases more starch granules for subsequent enzymatic hydrolysis [78]. It can be found from the study performed by Montalbo-Lomboy et al. [79] that the continuous flow sonication of starch is more energy efficient in sugar release compared to the batch systems. The continuous system could release approximately 24 J-equivalent sugars relative to that of the control for each 1 J of dissipated ultrasonic energy, while the batch system released only 2 J of energy [86].

From the economic viewpoint it is also recommended to keep the pretreatment time low because ultrasonic systems consume a significant amount of energy. Interestingly, this is consistent with multiple findings that short duration of pretreatment is appropriate for destroying the starch crystalline arrangement of various substrates and enhancing the glucose yield [64,78,85a,89]. Based on energy balance calculations, an increase of 2 J of sugar equivalent energy for every Joule of sonication energy input was generally found. Therefore, applying ultrasound technology in starch pretreatment has the potential to significantly improve the ethanol yield and improve profitability. It seems that more investigation is needed to scale up system designs to large batch or continuous processes in order to fully realize the potential benefits of ultrasound pretreatment [87]. For instance, the power dissipation in the glass sonication chamber was 50–75% higher than that of the plastic centrifuge tube for starch treatment. The chamber geometry and the mechanical impedance of the base material may have contributed to various levels of attenuation. However, a critical assessment of the costs and benefits may be needed because of the capital and operating costs of ultrasound treatment.

4.4. Effect of ultrasound on fermentation

By integrating an ultrasonic pretreatment even with a short processing time in ethanol production from starch, the overall ethanol yield can be significantly increased. During the fermentation of starches dextrins may be hydrolyzed through the action of glucoamylase to low molecular weight sugars, which are subsequently consumed by the yeast to produce yeast cells and ethanol [10a]. Ultrasonic pretreatment can increase the dextrose depending on sonication time and ultrasound intensity and type of starch [89]. This is attributed to the availability of additional starch for hydrolysis, which is provided by ultrasound-assisted disruption of the protein matrix (surrounding starch granules) and the amylase-lipid complex. The glucose consumption is also proportional to the results of ethanol concentration because glucose is consumed as a carbon source by the yeast and fermented to ethanol [77]. Starch-to-ethanol conversion rates from sonicated starches might also be significantly higher and the fermentation time can be reduced. Thus, ultrasonic pretreatment of starch might enhance both the overall ethanol yield and fermentation rate [85a]. Montalbo-Lomboy et al. [114], compared ultrasound pretreatment with large-scale jet cooking systems, which are currently used in commercial ethanol plants. Starch-to-ethanol conversions related to jet-cooked and sonicated corn slurry samples were obtained with yields of 74% and 71.2% of theoretical yield, respectively. Although statistical analysis showed no significant difference in starch-to-ethanol conversion between the jet cooking and ultrasonication pretreatment, energy efficiency of sonication is significantly higher than that of the iet-cooking.

The free amino nitrogen (FAN) content in triticale starch increased with ultrasound treatment in comparison to the untreated control sample. Increase in sonication temperature from 40 °C to 60 °C also caused FAN content to increase. The highest ethanol contents during the SSF process will occur when the most FAN occurs in the starch solution. FAN uptake promotes yeast growth and fermentation rate. Near the end of fermentation in the study of Pejin et al. [10a], there was a slight increase in FAN content among some of the ultrasound-pretreated samples. This can be attributed to autolysis of yeast cells, the release of peptidase enzyme from stressed yeast, or excretion of FAN from yeast cells due to degradation of protein inside the yeast cells [115]. In another study, a decrease in the number of viable yeast cells after 32 h of the SSF process caused a decrease in ethanol concentration after 48 h fermentation [87]. According to Thatipamala et al. [116], the product inhibition significantly affects the ethanol yield during the ethanol batch fermentation. In their study, S. cerevisiae biomass yield decreased from 0.16 g/mol to 0.03 g/mol when ethanol concentration increased from zero to 107 g/L. However, the maximum number of viable cells in ultrasound pretreated samples might be much higher compared to the untreated sample [87]. Comparing between ultrasound and microwave pretreatment, in the ultrasound pretreated sample product inhibition occurred much earlier because of a decrease in the number of viable yeast cells [77].

Sonicated samples in comparison to heat treated samples of cassava chips produced nearly 29% more ethanol yield, while combined heat and ultrasound treatment had no significant effect overall. Based on energy balances, ultrasound irradiation is also preferable to heat pretreatment because of lower energy requirements [85a]. Statistical analysis also showed no significant difference in starch-to-ethanol conversion between the jet cooking and sonication in another study by Montalbo-Lomboy et al. [114]. According to a prior assessment, the capital cost for the ultrasonic

system was 10 times higher compared to the capital cost of a hydro-cooker. However, due to the large energy requirements of hydro-cookers, a lower total overall cost was estimated for continuous ultrasonication compared to jet cooking treatment, so that ultrasonication potentially is a more economical option than jet cooking [114,117].

4.5. Effect of ultrasound on immobilized enzymes

Karimi et al. [118] optimized ultrasound-assisted transesterification of waste oil catalyzed by immobilized lipase on mesoporous silica/iron oxide magnetic core-shell nanoparticles. The immobilized lipase showed a high operational stability for conversion with only a slight loss in lipase activity after four cycles.

5. Conclusions

Global desire to reduce GHG emissions has led to a search for more sustainable and environmentally friendly energy substitutes. Lignocellulosic biomass and starch-based feedstock could prove to be renewable and abundantly available sources of sugar for fermentation and conversion into transportation fuels. High cost and low efficiency of enzymatic hydrolysis of lignocellulosic feedstocks are considered to be major impediments to ethanol production. Conversion of plant cellulose into sugars still remains an expensive and slow step, and is a substantial component of the cost of ethanol from starch. The use of ultrasound energy in enzymatic processing has beneficial effects for improving sugar and ethanol yields as well as increasing the reaction rate and reducing cost.

For cellulosic feedstocks, ultrasound irradiation is able to disrupt the cell wall leading to an increase in the accessibility of cellulase enzymes to cellulose fibers. High-power ultrasound has the potential to increase the pore volume and to reduce the crystallinity of cellulosic biomass. Ultrasound pretreatment can change the surface morphology of lignocellulose materials and enhance sugar yield in the hydrolysis process. Ultrasonic-assisted alkali pretreatment effectively destroys the intermolecular hydrogen bonding of lignocellulose, resulting in a decrease in crystallinity of cellulose. The combined use of caustic (NaOH) and ultrasound is one of the more effective pretreatments for enzymatic hydrolysis of bagasse, where more than 90% of the theoretical glucose yield is obtained within 70 h. Combining ultrasonic irradiation and ionic liquids also is an effective pretreatment of lignocellulosic materials, although the effect of this kind of treatment on the physical and chemical properties of lignin still needs further investigation.

Mechanical impacts generated by the collapse of cavitation bubbles, such as micro-jet and shock waves, provide an important benefit of exposing the surface of solid substrates to the action of enzymes. For starches, the hydrodynamic shear force introduced by ultrasound irradiation has a potential to disintegrate granules, reducing particle size by up to 20-fold and reducing suspension viscosity and molecular sizes of polymers, thereby significantly enhancing the surface area for enzyme activity. Both sonication time and delivered power need to be optimized to obtain the maximum glucose release. However even a relatively short duration of sonication has been recognized as an appropriate pretreatment for destroying the starch crystalline arrangement for various substrates and significantly enhancing the glucose yield. From an economic viewpoint, the current high initial capital and operating costs suggest more investigation into cost reduction measures and economies of scale for scale up to commercial scale batch or continuous processes in order to fully realize the potential benefits of ultrasound pretreatment.

References

- (a) Kumar P, Barrett DM, Delwiche MJ, Stroeve P. Methods for pretreatment of lignocellulosic biomass for efficient hydrolysis and biofuel production. Ind Eng Chem Res 2009;48(8):3713–29;
 - (b) Yat SC, Berger A, Shonnard DR. Kinetic characterization for dilute sulfuric acid hydrolysis of timber varieties and switchgrass. Bioresour Technol 2008;99:3855–63.
- Weekly U.S. retail gasoline prices, regular grade. Energy Information Administration (EIA), US DOE. Washington, DC: http://205.254.135.7/todayine-nergy/detail.cfm?id=4570; 2012.
- [3] Petroleum products supplied by type (1949–2008). U.S. Department of Energy (DOE), Washington, DC: http://www.eia.doe.gov/emeu/aer/txt/ ptb0511.html); 20008a.
- [4] Energy consumption by sector (1949–2008). U.S. Department of Energy (DOE), Washington, DC: http://www.eia.doe.gov/emeu/aer/txt/ptb0201a. html
- [5] Zhang P, et al. Ultrasonic vibration-assisted pelleting of cellulosic biomass for ethanol manufacturing. J Manuf Sci Eng 2011;133 (011012-1-7).
- [6] Saunders J. Physicochemical properties of wheat starches and their relationship to liquefaction and fermentative bioethanol performance. MS thesis. Univ of Manitoba. Manitoba, 2010.
- [7] Agarwal AK. Biofuels (alcohols and biodiesel) applications as fuels for internal combustion engines. Prog Energy Combust Sci 2007;33:233–71.
- [8] Renewable Fuels Association (RFA) ethanol facts: energy security. See: http://www.ethanolrfa.org/pages/ethanol-facts-energy-security; 2012.
- [9] Blazek J, Gilbert EP. Application of small-angle X-ray and neutron scattering techniques to the characterisation of starch structure: a review. Carbohydr Polym 2011;85:281–93.
- [10] (a) Pejin DJ, et al. Increase in bioethanol production yield from triticale by simultaneous saccharification and fermentation with application of ultrasound. J Chem Technol Biotechnol 2012;87:170–6;
 - (b) Alvira P, Tomas-Pejo E, Ballesteros M, Negro MJ. Pretreatment technologies for an efficient bioethanol production process based on enzymatic hydrolysis: a review. Bioresour Technol 2010;101:4851–61.
- [11] Khanal SK, Takara D, Nitayavardhana S, Lamsal BP, Shrestha P. Ultrasound applications in biorenewables for enhanced bioenergy and biofuel production. In: Sharma SK, Mudhoo A, editors. Green chemistry for environmental sustainability. Rajastan: CRC Press; 2010. p. 303–13.
- [12] Pilli S, Bhunia P, Yan S, LeBlanc RJ, Tyagi RD, Surampalli RY. Ultrasonic pretreatment of sludge: a review. Ultrason Sonochem 2011;18:1–18.
- [13] Thompson LH, Doraiswamy LK. Sonochemistry: science and engineering. Ind Eng Chem Res 1999;38:1215–49.
- [14] Rayleigh L. On the pressure developed in a liquid during the collapse of a spherical cavity. Philos Mag Ser 1917;34:94–8.
- [15] Richards WT, Loomis AL. The chemical effects of high frequency sound waves. I. A preliminary study. J Am Chem Soc 1927;49:3086–100.
- [16] Brohult S. Splitting of the haemocyanin molecule by ultrasonic waves. Nature 1937;140 (805-805).
- [17] Schmid G, Rommel O. Zerreiâen von makromolekulen mit ultraschall. Z Phys Chem 1939;185:97–139.
- [18] Iersel MMV. Sensible sonochemistry. PhD thesis. Technische Universiteit Eindhoven: Eindhoven, 2008; p 138.
- [19] (a) Bang JH, Suslick KS. Applications of ultrasound to the synthesis of nanostructured materials. Adv Mater 2010;22:1039–59;
 (b) Suslick KS. Sonochemistry. Science 1990;247:1439–45.
- [20] Chowdhury P, Viraraghavan T. Sonochemical degradation of chlorinated organic compounds, phenolic compounds and organic dyes—a review. Sci Total Environ 2009;407:2474–92.
- [21] (a) Leong T, Ashokkumar M, Kentish S. The fundamentals of power ultrasound-a review. Acoust Aust 2011;39:54-63;
 - (b) Brennen CE. Cavitation and bubble dynamics. New York, NY: Oxford University Press; 1995.
- [22] Fitzgerald ME, Griffing V, Sullivan J, Sullivan J. Chemical effects of ultrasonicss "hot spot" chemistry. J Chem Phys 1956;25:926–33.
- [23] Pang YL, Abdullah AZ, Bhatia S. Review on sonochemical methods in the presence of catalysts and chemical additives for treatment of organic pollutants in wastewater. Desalination 2011;277:1–14.
- [24] Vajnhandl S, Majcen Le Marechal A. Ultrasound in textile dyeing and the decolouration/mineralization of textile dyes. Dyes Pigm 2005;65:89–101.
 [25] Leighton TG. The acoustic bubble. San Diego: Academic Press; 1994.
- [26] (a) Yachmenev V, Condon B, Klasson T, Lambert A. Acceleration of the enzymatic hydrolysis of corn stover and sugar cane bagasse celluloses by
 - low intensity uniform ultrasound. J Biobased Mater Bioenergy 2009;3:25–31;
 (b) Zuo Y YJ, Hebraud P, Hemar Y, Ashokkumar M. Quantification of high-power ultrasound induced damage on potato starch granules using light
- microscopy. Ultrason Sonochem 2012;19:421–6.
 [27] Apfel RE. Acoustic cavitation prediction. J Acoust Soc Am 1981;69:1624–33.
- [28] Adewuyi YG. Sonochemistry: environmental science and engineering applications. Ind Eng Chem Res 2001;40 (4681–4615).
- [29] Lepoint T, Mullie F. What exactly is cavitation chemistry. Ultrason Sonochem 1994:1:13.

- [30] Son Y, Nam S, Ashokkumar M, Khim J. Comparison of energy consumptions between ultrasonic, mechanical, and combined soil washing processes. Ultrason Sonochem 2012;19:395–8.
- [31] Mettin, R. Bubble structures in acoustic cavitation. In: Bubble and particle dynamics in acoustic fields: modern trends and applications. Research signpost: Kerala, India; 2005. p. 1–36.
- [32] Ninomiya K, Kamide K, Takahashi K, Shimizu N. Enhanced enzymatic saccharification of kenaf powder after ultrasonic pretreatment in ionic liquids at room temperature. Bioresour Technol 2012;103:259–65.
- [33] Hahn-Hagerdal B, Galbe M, Gorwa-Grauslund MF, Liden G, Zacchi G. Bio-ethanol—the fuel of tomorrow from the residues of today. Trends Biotechnol 2006;24:549–56.
- [34] Bonsal P, Vowell B J, Hall M, Realff MJ, Lee JH, Bommarius AS. Elucidation of cellulose accessibility, hydrolysability and reactivity as the major limitations in the enzymatic hydrolysis of cellulose. Bioresour Technol 2012;107:243–50.
- [35] Yu J, Zhang JB, He J, Liu ZD, Yu ZN. Combinations of mild physical or chemical pretreatment with biological pretreatment for enzymatic hydrolysis of rice hull. Bioresour Technol 2009;100:903–8.
- [36] Gadhe JB, Gupta RB, Elder T. Surface modification of lignocellulosic fibers using high-frequency ultrasonic. Cellulose 2005;13:9–22.
- [37] Aimin T, Hongwei Z, Gang C, Guohui X, Wenzhi L. Influence of ultrasound treatment on accessibility and regioselective oxidation reactivity of cellulose. Ultrason Sonochem 2005;12:467–72.
- [38] Sun JX, Sun XF, Zhao H, Sun RC. Isolation and characterization of cellulose from sugarcane bagasse. Polym Degrad Stab 2004;84:331–9.
- [39] Li CZ, Yoshimoto M, Ogata H, Tsukuda N, Fukunaga K, Nakao K. Effects of ultrasonic intensity and reactor scale on kinetics of enzymatic saccharification of various waste papers in continuously irradiated stirred tanks. Ultrason Sonochem 2005;12:373–84.
- [40] Zhang YQ, Fu EH, Liang JH. Effect of ultrasonic waves on the saccharification processes of lignocellulose. Chem Eng Technol 2008;31:1510–5.
- [41] Wojciak A, Pekarovicova A. Enhancement of softwood kraft pulp accessibility for enzymatic hydrolysis by means of ultrasonic irradiation. Cellul Chem Technol 2001;35:361–9.
- [42] Wang XL, Fang GZ, Hu CP. Influence of ultrasonic wave-activating treatment on structure and oxidation reactivity of microcrystalline cellulose. Chem J Chin Univ 2007;28:565–7.
- [43] Wang XL, Fang GZ, Hu CP, Du TC. Application of ultrasonic waves in activation of microcrystalline cellulose. J Appl Polym Sci 2008;109:2762–7.
- [44] Zeng M, Gao HN, Wu YQ, Fan LR, Zheng TH, Zhou DF. Effects of ultrasonification assisting polyethylene glycol pre-treatment on the crystallinity and accessibility of cellulose fiber. J Macromol Sci Part A–Pure Appl Chem 2010;47:1042–9.
- [45] Wong SS, Kasapis S, Tan YM. Bacterial and plant cellulose modification using ultrasound irradiation. Carbohydr Polym 2009;77:280–7.
- [46] Goshadrou A, Karimi K, Taherzadeh MJ. Bioethanol production from sweet sorghum bagasse by *Mucor hiemalis*. Ind Crops Prod 2011;34:1219–25.
- [47] Yang F, Li LZ, Li Q, Tan WG, Liu W, Xian M. Enhancement of enzymatic in situ saccharification of cellulose in aqueous-ionic liquid media by ultrasonic intensification. Carbohydr Polym 2010;81:311–6.
- [48] Xiong J, Ye J, Liang WZ. Application of ultrasonic waves in activation of microcrystalline cellulose. Acta Acoust 2008;109:2762–7.
- [49] Montalbo-Lomboy, M, Srinivasan, G, Raman, DR, Robert, PA, Grewell, DA. Influence of ultrasonics in ammonia steeped switchgrass for enzymatic hydrolysis. In: ASABE annual international meeting., 17–20 June, Minneapolis, MN; 2007.
- [50] (a) Gama FM, Carvalho MG, Figueiredo MM, Mota M. Comparative study of cellulose fragmentation by enzymes and ultrasound. Enzyme Microb Technol 1997;20:12–7;
 - (b) MarxFigini M. Studies on the ultrasonic degradation of cellulose– macromolecular properties. Angew Makromol Chem 1997;250:85–92.
- [51] Sun XF, Sun RC, Su YQ, Sun JX. Comparative study of crude and purified cellulose from wheat straw. J Agric Food Chem 2004;52:839–47.
- [52] Gert EV, Morales AS, Zubets OV, Kaputskii FN. The feature of nitric acid 'mercerisation' of cellulose. Cellulose 2000;7:57–66.
- [53] Sun RC, Tomkinson J. Separation and characterization of cellulose from wheat straw. Sep Sci Technol 2004;39:391–411.
- [54] Mason TJ, Lorimer JP. Applied sonochemistry: the uses of power ultrasound in chemistry and processing. Germany: Wiley-VCH Weinheim; 2002.
- [55] Liu H, Bao J, Du Y, Zhou X, Kennedy JF. Effect of ultrasonic treatment on the biochemphysical properties of chitosan. Carbohydr Polym 2006;64:553–9.
- [56] Striegel AM. Influence of anomeric configuration on mechanochemical degradation of polysaccharides: cellulose versus amylose. Biomacromolecules 2007;8:3944–9.
- [57] (a) Wood BE, Aldrich HC, Ingram LO. Ultrasound stimulates ethanol production during the simultaneous saccharification and fermentation of mixed waste office paper. Biotechnol Progr 1997;13:232–7;
 - (b) Tang AM, Zhang HW, Chen G, Xie GH, Liang WZ. Influence of ultrasound treatment on accessibility and regioselective oxidation reactivity of cellulose. Ultrason Sonochem 2005;12:467–72.
- [58] Toma, M, Bandow, H, Vinatoru, M, Maeda, Y. Ultrasonically assisted conversion of lignocellulosic biomass to ethanol. In: AICHE annual meeting. San Francisco; 2006.
- [59] Easson MW, et al. The application of ultrasound in the enzymatic hydrolysis of switchgrass. Appl Biochem Biotechnol 2011;165:1322–31.

- [60] Rezania S, Ye ZL, Berson RE. Enzymatic saccharification and viscosity of sawdust slurries following ultrasonic particle size reduction. Appl Biochem Biotechnol 2009;153:103–15.
- [61] Csoka L, Lorincz A, Winkler A. Sonochemically modified wheat straw for pulp and papermaking to increase its economical performance and reduce environmental issues. Bioresources 2008;3:91–7.
- [62] Khanal SK, Montalbo M, van Leeuwen J, Srinivasan G, Grewell D. Ultrasound enhanced glucose release from corn in ethanol plants. Biotechnol Bioeng 2007;98:978–85.
- [63] Aliyu M, Hepher MJ. Effects of ultrasound energy on degradation of cellulose material. Ultrason Sonochem 2000;7:265–8.
- [64] Huang Q. Li L, Fu X. Ultrasound effects on the structure and chemical reactivity of cornstarch granules. Starch–Starke 2007;59:371–8.
- [65] Velmurugan R, Muthukumar K. Utilization of sugarcane bagasse for bioethanol production: sono-assisted acid hydrolysis approach. Bioresour Technol 2011;102:7119–23.
- [66] Aguilar R, Ramírez JA, Garrote G, Vázquez M. Kinetic study of acid hydrolysis of sugarcane bagasse. J Food Eng 2002;55:309–18.
- [67] Mikkola JP, Kirilin A, Tuuf JC, Pranovich A, Holmbom B, Kustov LM. Ultrasound enhancement of cellulose processing in ionic liquids: from dissolution towards functionalization. Green Chem 2007;9:1229–37.
- [68] Arora R, et al. Monitoring and analyzing process streams towards understanding ionic liquid pretreatment of switchgrass (*Panicum virgatum* L.). Bioenerg Res 2010;3:134–45.
- [69] Nakao, K. Li, C, Tsukuda, N, Yasuda, Y, Yoshimoto, M, Fukunaga, K. In: Proceedings of the ninth APCChE congress; 2002.
- [70] Cheng KK, et al. Sugarcane bagasses hemicellulose hydrolysate for ethanol production by acid recovery process. Biochem Eng J 2008;38:105–9.
- [71] Chu BCH, Lee H. Genetic improvement of *Saccharomyces cerevisiae* for xylose fermentation. Biotechnol Adv 2007;25:425–41.
- [72] Tester RF, Karkalas J, Qi X. Starch-composition, fine structure and architecture. | Cereal Sci 2004;39:151–65.
- [73] Donald AM, Kato KL, Perry PA, Waigh TA. Scattering studies of the internal structure of starch granules. Starch/Starke 2001;53:504–12.
- [74] Holm J, Lundquist I, Bjorck I, Eliasson AC, Asp NG. Degree of starch gelatinization, digestion rate of starch invitro, and metabolic response in rats. Am J Clin Nutr 1988;47:1010–6.
- [75] Rooney LW, Pflugfelder RL, Factors affecting starch digestibility with special emphasis on sorghum and corn. J Anim Sci 1986;63:1607–23.
- [76] Waigh TA, Gidley MJ, Komanshek BU, Donald AM. The phase transformations in starch during gelatinisation: a liquid crystalline approach. Carbohydr Res 2000;328:165–76.
- [77] Nikolic S, Mojovic L, Rakin M, Pejin D, Pejin J. Utilization of microwave and ultrasound pretreatments in the production of bioethanol from corn. Clean Technol Environ Policy 2011;13:587–94.
- [78] Nitayavardhana S, Rakshit SK, Grewell D, van Leeuwen J, Khanal SK. Ultrasound pretreatment of cassava chip slurry to enhance sugar release for subsequent ethanol production. Biotechnol Bioeng 2008;101:487–96.
- [79] Montalbo-Lomboy M, Johnson L, Khanal SK, van Leeuwen J, Grewell D. Sonication of sugary-2 corn: a potential pretreatment to enhance sugar release. Bioresour Technol 2010;101:351–8.
- [80] Isono Y, Kumagai T, Watanabe T. Ultrasonic degradation of waxy rice starch. Biosci Biotechnol Biochem 1994;58 (1799–1802).
- [81] Lehmann L, Kudryashov E, Buckin V. Ultrasonic monitoring of the gelatinization of starch. Prog Colloid Polym Sci 2004;123:136–40.
- [82] Iida Y, Tuziuti T, Yasui K, Towata A, Kozuka T. Control of viscosity in starch and polysaccharide solutions with ultrasound after gelatinization. Innovative Food Sci Emerg Technol 2008;9:140–6.
- [83] Jambrak AR, et al. Ultrasound effect on physical properties of corn starch. Carbohydr Polym 2010;79:91–100.
- [84] Singh N, Inouchi N, Nishinari K. Structural, thermal and viscoelastic characteristics of starches separated from normal, sugary and waxy maize. Food Hydrocolloids 2006;20:926–35.
- [85] (a) Nitayavardhana S, Shrestha P, Rasmussen ML, Lamsal BP, van Leeuwen J, Khanal SK. Ultrasound improved ethanol fermentation from cassava chips in cassava-based ethanol plants. Bioresour Technol 2010;101: 2741–7;
 - (b) Luo ZG, Fu X, He XW, Luo FX, Gao QY, Yu SJ. Effect of Ultrasonic treatment on the physicochemical properties of maize starches differing in amylose content. Starch–Starke 2008;60:646–53.
- [86] Montalbo-Lomboy M, Khanal SK, van Leeuwen J, Raman DR, Dunn L, Grewell D. Ultrasonic pretreatment of corn slurry for saccharification: a comparison of batch and continuous systems. Ultrason Sonochem 2010;17:939–46.
- [87] Nikolic S, Mojovic L, Rakin M, Pejin D, Pejin J. Ultrasound-assisted production of bioethanol by simultaneous saccharification and fermentation of corn meal. Food Chem 2010;122:216–22.
- [88] Balasubrahmanyam A, Roy SB, Chowdhury S, Hareendran KN, Pandit AB. Enhancement of the leaching rate of uranium in the presence of ultrasound. Ind Eng Chem Res 2006;45:7639–48.
- [89] Shewale SD, Pandit AB. Enzymatic production of glucose from different qualities of grain sorghum and application of ultrasound to enhance the yield. Carbohydr Res 2009;344:52–60.

- [90] (a) Knorr D, Zenker M, Heinz V, Lee DU. Applications and potential of ultrasonics in food processing. Food Sci Technol 2004;15:261–6;
 - (b) Benmoussa M, Hamaker BR. Rapid small-scale starch isolation using a combination of ultrasonic sonication and sucrose density separation. Starch-Starke 2011;63:333–9.
- [91] Zhong G, Zongdao C, Yimin W. Physicochemical properties of lotus (*Nelumbo nucifera* Gaertn.) and kudzu (*Pueraria hirsute* Matsum.) starches. Int J Food Sci Technol 2007;42:1449–55.
- [92] Soares RMD, De Francisco A, Rayas-Duarte P, Soldi V. Brazilian hull-less and malting barley genotypes: II. Thermal and rheological properties of starch. J Food Qual 2007;30:372–85.
- [93] Huber KC, BeMiller JN. Channels of maize and sorghum starch granules. Carbohydr Polym 2000;41:269–76.
- [94] Zobel HF, Young SN, Rocca LA. Starch gelatinization—an X-ray diffraction study. Cereal Chem 1988;65:443–6.
- [95] Lorimer JP, Mason TJ, Cuthbert TC, Brookfield EA. Effect of ultrasound on the degradation of aqueous native dextran. Ultrason Sonochem 1995;2:55–7.
- [96] Koda S, Mori H, Matsumoto K, Nomura H. Ultrasonic degradation of watersoluble polymers. Polymer 1994;35:30–3.
- [97] Chen RH, Chang JR, Shyur JS. Effects of ultrasound conditions and storage in acidic solutions on changes in molecular weight and polydispersity of treated chitosan. Carbohydr Res 1997;299:287–94.
- [98] Miyazaki T, Yamamoto C, Okada S. Ultrasonic depolymerization of hyaluronic acid. Polym Degrad Stab 2001;74:77–85.
- [99] Vodenièarová M, Døimalová G, Hromádková Z, Malovíková A, Ebringerová A. Xyloglucan degradation using different radiation sources: a comparative study. Ultrason Sonochem 2006;13:157–64.
- [100] Chung KM, Moon TW, Kim H, Chun JK. Physicochemical properties of sonicated mung bean, potato, and rice starches. Cereal Chem 2002;79:631–3.
- [101] Feng H, Yang W, Hielscher T. Power ultrasound. Food Sci Technol Int 2008;14:433–6.
- [102] Seguchi M, Higasa T, Mori T. Study of wheat starch structures by sonication treatment. Cereal Chem 1994;71:639–41.
- [103] Wu X, et al. Effects of amylose, corn protein, and corn fiber contents on production of ethanol from starch-rich media. Cereal Chem 2006;83:569–75.
- [104] Gupta, M, Bawa, AS, Semwal, AD. Morphological, thermal, pasting, and rheological properties of barley starch and their blends. Int J Food Prop 2009;12:587–604.
- [105] Agu RC, Bringhurst TA, Brosnan JM. Production of grain whisky and ethanol from wheat, maize and other cereals. J Inst Brew 2006;112:314–23.
- [106] Szent-Györgyi A. Chemical and biological effects of ultrasonic radiation. Nature 1933;131:278.
- [107] Wu Y, Du XF, Ge HH, Lv Z. Preparation of microporous starch by glucoamylase and ultrasound. Starch–Starke 2011;63:217–25.
- [108] Zhang ZT, Niu YX, Eckhoff SR, Feng H. Sonication enhanced cornstarch separation. Starch–Starke 2005;57:240–5.
- [109] Czechowska-Biskup R, Rokita B, Lotfy S, Ulanski P, Rosiak JM. Degradation of chitosan and starch by 360-kHz ultrasound. Carbohydr Polym 2005;60:175–84.
 [110] Chan HT, Bhat R, Karim AA. Effect of sodium dodecyl sulphate and sonication
- treatment on physicochemical properties of starch. Food Chem 2010;120:703–9.
- [111] Wang YJ, Wang L. Physicochemical properties of common and waxy corn starches oxidized by different levels of sodium hypochlorite. Carbohydr Polym 2003;52:207–17.
- [112] Yaldagard M, Mortazavi SA, Tabatabaie F. Influence of ultrasonic stimulation on the germination of barley seed and its alpha-amylase activity. Afr J Biotechnol 2008;7:2465–71.
- [113] Kolusheva T, Marinova A. A study of the optimal conditions for starch hydrolysis through thermostable a-amylase. J Univ Chem Technol Metall 2007;42:93–6.
- [114] Montalbo-Lomboy M, Khanal SK, van Leeuwen J, Raman DR, Grewell D. Simultaneous saccharification and fermentation and economic evaluation of ultrasonic and jet cooking pretreatment of corn slurry. Biotechnol Progr 2011;27:1561–9.
- [115] Wang S, Thomas K, Ingledew W, Sosulski K, Sosulski F. Production of fuel ethanol from rye and triticale by very-high-gravity (VHG) fermentation. Appl Biochem Biotechnol 1998;69:157–75.
- [116] Thatipamala R, Rohani S, Hill GA. Effects of high product and substrate inhibitions on the kinetics and biomass and product yields during ethanol batch fermentation. Biotechnol Bioeng 1992;40:289–97.
- [117] (a) Yang B, Wyman CE. Pretreatment: the key to unlocking low-cost cellulosic ethanol. Biofuels, Bioprod Biorefin 2008;2:26–40;
 - (b) Chandra RP, Bura R, Mabee WE, Berlin A, Pan X, Saddler JN. Substrate pretreatment: the key to effective enzymatic hydrolysis of lignocellulosics? Adv Biochem Eng/Biotechnol 2007;108:67–93;
 - (c) Oliva JM, Sáez F, Ballesteros I, Gónzalez A, Negro MJ, Manzanares P, et al. Effect of lignocellulosic degradation compounds from steam explosion pretreatment on ethanol fermentation by thermotolerant yeast *Kluyver*omyces marxianus. Appl Microbiol Biotechnol 2003;105:141–54.
- [118] Karimi M, Rahman M, Jenkins B, Stroeve P. Hybrid response surface methodology-genetic algorithm optimization of ultrasound-assisted transesterification of waste oil catalysed by immobilized lipase on mesoporous silica/iron oxide magnetic core-shell nanoparticles. Environ Technol 2013;34:2201-11.